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General information

Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, a.s. Group (the “Group”) consists of Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, 

a.s. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries: Telefónica O2 Slovakia, s.r.o., Telefónica O2 Business 

Solutions, spol. s r.o. (formerly Telefónica O2 Services, spol. s r.o.), SPT TELECOM (Czech Republic) 

Finance B.V., CZECH TELECOM Germany GmbH and CZECH TELECOM Austria GmbH.

The Company has a form of a joint stock company and is incorporated and domiciled 

in the Czech Republic. The address of its registered office is Za Brumlovkou 266/2, Prague 4, 

140 22, Czech Republic.

The Group is a member of the Telefónica Group of companies (the “Telefónica Group”) with 

a parent company, Telefónica, S.A. (the “Telefónica”).

The Company is the principal supplier of fixed line telecommunication services and is one of the 

four suppliers of mobile telephone services in the Czech Republic.

The number of employees employed with the Group amounted in average to 8,974 in 2009 (2008: 

9,258).

The Company’s shares are traded on the Prague Stock Exchange and London Stock Exchange 

(GDRs).

These consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the Company’s Board 

of Directors on 19 February 2010.

Provision of mobile telecommunication services in Slovakia

Telefónica O2 Slovakia, s.r.o. (the “Telefónica O2 Slovakia”), a 100 % subsidiary company 

of Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, a.s., was awarded the 3rd mobile license in Slovakia 

in September 2006.

The license allows Telefónica O2 Slovakia to use frequencies GSM 900 MHz, GSM 1800 MHz, UMTS 

and FS 29 GHz for the period of 20 years for providing telecommunication services in the Slovak 

Republic.

The operation in Slovakia is considered as an organic expansion of the Telefónica Group business 

in the region and is utilizing synergies with the Company operations. The leverage of the Czech 

operations is expected in areas of network (development, monitoring, support), IT, procurement 

and back office (finance, HR, legal).

Telefónica O2 Slovakia launched its commercial service in February 2007 offering prepaid voice, 

SMS (Short Message Service) and GPRS (General Packet Radio Service) data in the GSM (Global 

System for Mobile communications) spectrum. In September 2007, Telefónica O2 Slovakia 

launched its postpaid services. In August 2007, Telefónica O2 Slovakia also launched its UMTS 

(Universal Mobile Telecommunication System) network with a limited coverage.
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In 2006, Telefónica O2 Slovakia signed a national roaming agreement with T-Mobile Slovensko, 

a.s. It provides Telefónica O2 Slovakia with the ability to offer full network coverage to its 

customers immediately from commercial launch even before the construction of its own network 

is finished. The strategy of the Telefónica O2 Slovakia is to build own network coverage in areas 

where it is economically feasible.

The top priority of Telefónica O2 Slovakia has been a gradual fulfilment of the license conditions, 

gaining a base of active customers and aiming to provide the telecommunications market with 

innovations and technological advances as the first company on the market.

Merger of DELTAX Systems a.s. with Telefónica O2 
Business Solutions, spol. s r.o.

In December 2008, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the plan to merge Telefónica 

O2 Business Solutions, spol. s r.o. with DELTAX Systems a.s. This merger became effective as at 

1 January 2009 after the fulfillment of all legal conditions performed in the year 2009. Telefónica 

O2 Business Solutions, spol. s r.o. became the legal successor while DELTAX Systems a.s. was 

dissolved without liquidation. The assets, rights and obligations including labour rights and duties 

were transferred to the successor.

Liquidation of subsidiary SPT TELECOM (Czech Republic) Finance B.V. 
in liquidation

During the fourth quarter of 2007, SPT TELECOM (Czech Republic) Finance B.V. in liquidation 

commenced preparatory steps for the process of voluntary liquidation. Until the end of 2008, the 

key legal steps for dissolution of the Company have been executed. As of 9 February 2009, the 

registration of the company was cancelled from the Commercial Register.
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Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, a.s.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Telefónica O2 Czech 

Republic, a.s. and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet 

as at 31 December 2009 and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, 

and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 

European Union. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal 

control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 

audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and 

implementation guidance of the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic. Those standards 

require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of the Group as of 31 December 2009, and of its financial performance and its cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

adopted by the European Union.

Ernst & Young Audit, s.r.o.	 Brian Welsh	 Radek Pav	 19 February 2010

Licence No. 401	 Partner	 Auditor, 	 Prague,

Represented by		  Licence No. 2042	 Czech Republic
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2009

In CZK million Notes

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Revenue 2 59,889 64,709

Gains from sale of non-current assets 8 422 855

Internal expenses capitalized in fixed assets 2 787 484

Operating expenses 3 (33,999) (37,650)

Impairment loss 8, 9, 10 (23) (86)

Depreciation and amortisation 8, 9 (12,001) (12,932)

Operating profit 15,075 15,380

Interest income 4 167 449

Interest expense 4 (263) (406)

Other finance expense (net) 4 (102) (75)

Profit before income tax 14,877 15,348

Taxes on income 5 (3,211) (3,720)

Profit for the year 11,666 11,628

Other comprehensive income

Gains proceeding from cash flow hedges 24 – 24

Translation differences 151 (215)

Income tax effect 24 – (4)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 151 (195)

Total comprehensive income, net of tax 11,817 11,433

Profit attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 6 11,666 11,628

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 11,817 11,433

Earnings per share (CZK) – basic* 6 36 36

*	 There is no dilution of earnings as no convertible instruments have been issued by the Company.
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Consolidated balance sheet 

as at 31 December 2009

In CZK million Notes 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 8 57,545 63,429

Intangible assets 9 22,477 22,348

Investment in associate 26 9 11

Other financial assets 12 285 378

Non-current assets 80,316 86,166

Inventories 11 618 779

Receivables and prepayments 12 9,773 9,240

Income tax receivable 697 226

Cash and cash equivalents 13 1,269 7,116

Current assets 12,357 17,361

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 8 95 96

Total assets 92,768 103,623

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Ordinary shares 23 32,209 32,209

Share premium 24,374 24,374

Retained earnings, funds and reserves 17,296 21,585

Minority interest – –

Total equity 73,879 78,168

Long-term financial debts 15 3,044 3,098

Deferred taxes 16 3,333 3,300

Non-current provisions for liabilities and charges 18 24 403

Non-current other liabilities 14 21 176

Non-current liabilities 6,422 6,977

Short-term financial debts 15 87 98

Trade and other payables 14 12,092 17,686

Income tax liability – 9

Provisions for liabilities and charges 18 288 685

Current liabilities 12,467 18,478

Total liabilities 18,889 25,455

Total equity and liabilities 92,768 103,623

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 

19 February 2010 and were signed on its behalf by:

Jakub Chytil	 Jesús Pérez de Uriguen 

Member of the Board of Directors	 1st Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 

General Counsel and Company Secretary	 Vice President, Finance Division
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Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

for the year ended 31 December 2009

In CZK million Notes

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Hedging 

reserve

Foreign 

exchange 

translation 

reserve

Equity settled 

share based 

payments 

reserve Funds*

Retained 

earnings Total

At 1 January 2008 32,209 30,816 (20) 9 – 6,452 13,326 82,792

Fair value gains (net 

of tax) cash flow 

hedges 24 – – 20 – – – – 20

Currency translation 

differences – amount 

arising in year – – – (215) – – – (215)

Net profit – – – – – – 11,628 11,628

Total comprehensive 

income – – 20 (215) – – 11,628 11,433

Equity restructuring 23 – (6,442) – – – 6,442 – –

Transfer from reserve 

fund to retained 

earnings 23 – – – – – (6,442) 6,442 –

Capital contribution – – – – 47 – – 47

Dividends declared 

in 2008 7 – – – – – – (16,104) (16,104)

At 31 December 2008 32,209 24,374 – (206) 47 6,452 15,292 78,168

At 1 January 2009 32,209 24,374 – (206) 47 6,452 15,292 78,168

Currency translation 

differences – amount 

arising in year – – – 151 – – – 151

Net income and 

expense recognised 

directly in equity – – – 151 – – – 151

Net profit – – – – – – 11,666 11,666

Total comprehensive 

income – – – 151 – – 11,666 11,817

Capital contribution 

and other transfers – – – – (9) – 7 (2)

Dividends declared 

in 2009 7 – – – – – – (16,104) (16,104)

At 31 December 2009 32,209 24,374 – (55) 38 6,452 10,861 73,879

* 	Refer to Note 23 regarding amounts not available for distribution.
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Consolidated cash flow statement 

for the year ended 31 December 2009

In CZK million Notes

Year ended  

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Net profit 11,666 11,628

Non-cash adjustments for:

 Income tax 5 3,211 3,720

 Depreciation 8 9,977 10,994

 Amortisation 9 2,024 1,938

 Impairment loss 8, 9, 10 23 86

 Disposals of obsolete assets 3 114

 Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (476) (840)

 Net interest and other income (charges) 96 (45)

 Foreign exchange gains (net) (95) (239)

 Fair value changes (89) (15)

 Change in provisions and allowances (1,871) (828)

Operating cash flow before working capital changes 24,469 26,513

Working capital adjustments:

 Increase in trade and other receivables (1,086) (731)

 Decrease/(increase) in inventories 153 (275)

 (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (2,387) 1,314

Cash flows from operating activities 21,149 26,821

Interest paid (237) (487)

Interest received 169 367

Income tax paid (3,659) (4,859)

Net cash from operating activities 17,422 21,842

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,346) (4,695)

Purchase of intangible assets (2,729) (2,221)

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 891 4,586

Proceeds from marketable securities – 24

Cash purchase of financial investments – (30)

Cash acquired from purchase of financial investments 2 107

Dividends received 5 2

Net cash used in investing activities (7,177) (2,227)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings – 650

Repayment of borrowings (5) (6,645)

Dividends – paid (16,087) (16,080)

Net cash used in financing activities (16,092) (22,075)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,847) (2,460)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,116 9,576

Cash and cash equivalents at the year end 13 1,269 7,116
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Basis of preparationA)	

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 

statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, 

unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and all applicable IFRSs adopted by the EU. IFRS comprise standards 

and interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).

Effective from 1 January 2005, a change in the Czech Act on Accounting No. 563/1991 Coll. 

requires the Group to prepare its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 

adopted by the EU (Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002). At the year-end, there is no difference in the 

policies applied by the Group between IFRS and IFRS adopted by the EU.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared under the historical cost convention except 

for non-current assets held for sale, inventory held at net realizable value, financial derivatives, 

share based payment liability and certain assets and liabilities acquired during business 

combinations, as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS required the Group to use 

certain critical accounting estimates. It also required management to exercise its judgement 

in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 

of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note U.

The amounts shown in these consolidated financial statements are presented in millions Czech 

Crowns (“CZK”), if not stated otherwise.

Adoption of new or revised IFRS standards and interpretations (includes standards and 

interpretations applicable for the Group)

In 2009, the Group applied the below stated standards, interpretations and amendments, which 

are relevant to its operations. Adoption of the interpretations and amendments has no effect 

on the financial performance or position of the Group:

IFRS 2 Amendment (issued 2008, effective date 1 January 2009) Share-based Payments

The amendment clarifies the definition of a vesting condition and prescribes the treatment 

for an award that is cancelled. This amendment has no material impact on the Group’s financial 

statements.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (issued 2009, effective date 1 January 2009)

The amendment requires additional disclosure about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. 

Fair value measurements related to items recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by source of 

inputs using a three level fair value hierarchy, by class, for all financial instruments recognised 

at fair value. The amendment also clarifies the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures with 

respect to derivative transactions and assets used for liquidity management. 
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This adoption affects certain disclosures in the notes to the Group financial statements.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments (issued 2006, effective date 1 January 2009)

The standard replaces IAS 14 Segment Reporting and requires entities to disclose segment 

information based on the information reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker. 

The adoption of the standard has no impact on the current presentation and disclosure of the 

segment information.

IAS 1 Amendment (issued 2007, effective date 1 January 2009) Presentation of financial 

statements

The amendment to the standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. In addition, 

the Standard introduces a statement of comprehensive income: presenting all items of income 

and expense recognised in the income statement, together with all other items of recognised 

income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements. This revised 

standard has been adopted in the current financial period for the Group financial statements.

IAS 23 Amendment (issued 2007, effective date 1 January 2009) Borrowing Costs

The amendment requires the Group to capitalise borrowing costs that are directly attributable 

to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Since the Group has 

already applied this policy as an allowed alternative treatment before the effective date of this 

amendment, there is no impact on the financial position of the Group.

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, 

Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate – Amendments (issued 2008, effective date 1 January 2009)

IAS 27 is amended for the following changes in respect of the holding companies separate 

financial statements:

The deletion of the “cost method”. Making the distinction between pre- and post-acquisition i)	

profits is no longer required. All dividends are recognized in profit or loss. However, the 

payment of such dividends requires the entity to consider whether there is an indicator of 

impairment; and

In case of reorganisations where a new parent is inserted above an existing parent of the ii)	

group (subject to meeting specific requirements), the cost of the subsidiary is the previous 

carrying amount of its share of equity items in the subsidiary rather than its fair value.

There is no material effect relating to the adoption of these amendments on the Group financial 

statements.

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes (issued 2007, effective date 1 July 2008)

This interpretation addresses the accounting by entities that provide their customers with 

incentives to buy goods or services by providing awards as part of the sale transaction. The 

interpretation requires the entity that grants the awards to account for the sales transaction 

that gives rise to the award credits as a multiple element transaction and allocate the fair value 

of the consideration received or receivable between the award credits granted and the other 

components of the revenue transaction.
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This adoption affects current accounting policy in respect of change of the fair value awards 

measurement and change in the presentation in the financial statements. This also affects certain 

disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

This adoption has not any material impact on the financial results in the year 2009.

Standards and interpretations issued and endorsed by the European Union but not early adopted 

by the Group (includes standards and interpretations applicable for the Group)

Revised IFRS 3 Business Combinations (issued 2008, effective date 1 July 2009)

The standard introduces changes in the accounting for business combination that will have 

an impact on the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that 

an acquisition occurs and on future reported results. The Group is currently assessing the impact 

of the application of this standard. The Group will apply IFRS 3 (Revised) prospectively to all 

business combinations from 1 January 2010.

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Amendment (issued 2008, effective date 

1 July 2009)

The most significant changes to IAS 27 are as follows:

Changes in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (that do not result in a loss of control) are i)	

accounted for as an equity transaction and have no impact on goodwill nor give rise to a gain 

or loss.

Losses incurred by the subsidiary are allocated between the controlling and non-controlling ii)	

interests (previously referred to as “minority interest”); even if the losses exceed the 

non-controlling equity investment in a subsidiary.

On loss of control of a subsidiary, any retained interest is remeasured to fair value and this has iii)	

impact on the gain or loss recognized on disposal.

There is not any material effect expected relating to the adoption of this amendment on the 

Group financial statements.

Standards and interpretations issued but not endorsed by the European Union and neither early 

adopted by the Group nor effective (includes standards and interpretations applicable for the 

Group)

IFRS 2 Amendment (issued 2009, effective date 1 January 2010) Share-based Payments

The amendment is concerning the accounting for group cash-settled share-based payment 

transactions. The amendment clarifies how an individual subsidiary in a group should account for 

some share-based payment arrangements in its own financial statements. In these arrangements, 

the subsidiary receives goods or services from employees or suppliers but its parent or another 

entity in the group must pay those suppliers.

This amendment will not have any material impact on the Group financial statements.

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers (issued 2009, effective 1 July 2009)
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This interpretation provides guidance on how to account for items of property, plant, and 

equipment received from customers, or cash that is received and used to acquire or construct 

specific assets. This interpretation is only applicable to such assets that are used to connect the 

customer to a network or to provide ongoing access to a supply of goods or services or both.

The Group has assessed the impact of the application of this interpretation, there will be no 

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 5 Amendment (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 

Discontinued Operations – Disclosure

This amendment was issued in order to clarify the disclosure requirments in respect of 

non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations.  

Also clarifies that the general requirements of IAS 1 still apply.

The Group does not expect any material changes to the disclosure in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 8 Amendment (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Operating Segments – Disclosure

Minor textual amendment to the standard and amendment to the basis for conclusions, to clarify 

that an entity is required to disclose a measure of segment assets only if that measure is regularly 

reported to the chief operating decision-maker.

The Group does not expect any material changes to the disclosure in the notes to the finacial 

statements resulting from this amendment.

IAS 1 Amendment (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendment specifies current / non-current classification of convertible instruments and 

clarifies that the potential settlement of a liability by the issue of equity is not relevant to its 

classification as current or non-current. By amending the definition of current liability, the 

amendment permits a liability to be classified as non-current (provided that the entity has an 

unconditional right to defer settlement by transfer of cash or other assets for at least 12 months 

after the accounting period) notwithstanding the fact that the entity could be required by the 

counterparty to settle in shares at any time.

This amendment will not have any material impact on the Group financial statements.

IAS 7 Amendment (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Statement of Cash Flows

Amendment to require that only expenditures that result in a recognized asset in the statement 

of financial position can be classified as investing activities. This amendment will have no impact 

on the Group financial statements, since this treatment is already applied by the Group.

IAS 36 Amendment (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Impairment of Assets

Amendment to clarify that the largest cash-generating unit (or groups of units) to which goodwill 

should be allocated for the purposes of impairment testing is an operating segment as defined 

by par. 5 of IFRS 8 Operating Segments. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the 

application of this amendment on the consolidated financial statements.



TELEFÓNICA O2 CZECH REPUBLICAnnual Report 2009

Consolidated financial statements111

IAS 38 Amendments (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Intangible Assets

The first amendment clarifies the effect of the decision in IFRS 3 (Revised) on the accounting for 

intangible assets acquired in a business combination.

The second amendment clarifies the description in IAS 38, 40 and 41 of valuation techniques 

commonly used by entities when measuring the fair value of intangible assets acquired in 

a business combination that are not traded in active markets.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of these amendments. The Group will apply IAS 38 

Amendments together with IFRS 3 (Revised) prospectively to all business combination from 

1 January 2010.

IFRS 5 Amendment (issued 2008, effective 1 July 2009) Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 

Discontinued Operations 

The amendment clarifies that all of subsidiary’s assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale 

if a partial disposal sale plan results in loss of control. Relevant disclosure should be made for this 

subsidiary if the definition of a discontinued operation is met. A consequential amendment to 

IFRS 1 states that these amendments are applied prospectively from the date of transition to IFRS.

The Group will apply the IFRS 5 (Amendment) prospectively to all partial disposals of subsidiaries 

from 1 January 2010.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (issued in 2009, effective date 1 January 2013)

This standard specifies classification and measurements of finacial assets. 

The Group is currently assessing the impact of standard. The Group will apply IFRS 9 from 

1 January 2013.

Group accountingB)	

Consolidation

Subsidiary undertakings, which are those companies in which the Company, directly or indirectly, 

has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or otherwise has power to exercise 

control over the operations, have been consolidated. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date 

on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date when 

the Group ceases to have control.

A business combination is accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. An acquisition 

is accounted for at its cost, being the amount of cash and cash equivalents paid in exchange 

for control over the net assets of an acquired company, plus any costs directly attributable to 

the acquisition. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets of the 

subsidiary acquired is recorded as goodwill. For detail refer to Note E Intangible assets and also to 

Note 9.
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Intercompany transactions and balances between the Group companies are eliminated unless the 

transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. The accounting policies 

for subsidiaries are changed, where necessary, to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 

the Group and another companies within the Group.

Intercompany transactions and balances between the Group and Telefónica companies 

for the period after the transfer of majority ownership to Telefónica, S.A. are not eliminated. 

They are identified, disclosed and measured for the disclosure purposes and elimination 

procedures of the majority shareholder – Telefónica, S.A.

The ultimate parent company of the Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, a.s. Group is Telefónica, S.A.

Foreign currenciesC)	

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional 

currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Czech Crowns (“CZK”), which 

is the Group’s presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 

rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 

the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, 

except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges. Such balances of monetary 

items are translated at period-end exchange rates. Non-monetary items that are measured in 

terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date 

of the transaction. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

(iii) Group companies

The comprehensive income and cash flow statements of foreign entities are translated into 

the Group’s reporting currency at the average exchange rates for the year and their balance 

sheets are translated at the exchange rates ruling on 31 December. Exchange differences arising 

from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings and other 

currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments are taken to shareholders’ equity. 

When a foreign entity is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Property, plant and equipmentD)	

All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost and, except for freehold land, are 

subsequently carried at its cost less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses. Freehold land is subsequently stated at cost less impairment charges.
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Property, plant and equipment acquired in business combinations are stated at their acquisition 

costs (which are equal to their fair value at the date of acquisition) less depreciation and 

impairment charges.

Property, plant and equipment include all costs directly attributable to bringing the asset 

to working condition for its intended use. With respect to the construction of the network, this 

comprises every expenditure up to the customers’ premises, including the cost of contractors, 

materials, direct labour costs and interest cost incurred during the course of construction.

Subsequent cost are recognised as property, plant and equipment only if it is probable that future 

economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured 

reliably. Subsequent costs are recognised as decrease of accumulated depreciation if only useful 

life is extended.

Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Items of property, plant and equipment that are retired are not intended for sale and are not 

expected to create any future economic benefits or are otherwise disposed of, are eliminated 

from the balance sheet, along with the corresponding accumulated depreciation. Any gain or loss 

arising from retirement or disposal is included in net operating income, i.e. net gain or loss is 

determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount 

of the item.

Items of property, plant and equipment, excluding freehold land, are depreciated from the time 

they are available for use, using the straight-line method. Depreciation ceases at the earlier of 

the date the asset is de-recognised or the date the asset is classified as held for sale.

Depreciation does not cease, when the asset becomes temporarily idle or retired from active use, 

unless the asset is fully depreciated.

Estimated useful lives adopted in these consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Years

Freehold buildings up to 40

Cable and other related plant 5 to 25

Exchanges and related equipment up to 10 

Other fixed assets 2 to 10

Freehold land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount 

if the asset’s carrying amount is greater then its estimated recoverable amount (refer to Note G 

Impairment of assets).



TELEFÓNICA O2 CZECH REPUBLICAnnual Report 2009

Consolidated financial statements114

Intangible assetsE)	

Intangible assets include computer software, purchased goodwill, licenses, trade names, customer 

base and roaming contracts. Computer software mainly represents the external acquisition costs 

of the Group’s information systems that are intended for use within the Group. Generally, costs 

associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an 

expense as incurred. However, costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique 

software products controlled by the Group and that have a probable economic benefit exceeding 

the cost beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Computer software costs recognised 

as assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives, generally one to five 

years.

Intangible assets acquired in business combinations are stated at their acquisition costs (which are 

equal to their fair value at the date of acquisition) less amortisation and impairment charges 

and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Customer bases are 

amortised over a period of the remaining average terms of the binding contracts.

Acquired licenses are recorded at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining 

life of the license (i.e. over 15 to 20 years), from the start of commercial service, which best 

reflects the pattern by which the economic benefits of the intangible assets will be utilised by the 

Group.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. They are subject to the regular 

impairment reviews (see Note 9 and Note 10).

Goodwill, arising from the purchase of subsidiary undertakings and interests in associates 

and joint ventures, represents the excess of the fair value of the purchase consideration over 

the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment 

at least annually or anytime there are indications of a decrease in its value. 

The Group reviews at least at the balance sheet date the useful lives of intangible assets that are 

not amortised to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite 

useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment from 

indefinite to finite is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

On the balance sheet date, carrying amounts, residual values and the useful lives of assets 

are reviewed, revised and if necessary prospectively amended and accounted for as a change 

in an accounting estimate. 

Intangible assets that are no longer in use and no future economic benefits are expected or that 

are disposed of for any other reason are de-recognised from the balance sheet together with the 

corresponding accumulated amortisation (for amortised assets only). All gains or losses arising 

in this respect are recognised in net operating income, i.e. net gain or loss is determined as the 

difference between net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset.

Intangible assets, with the exception of assets with an indefinite useful life, are amortised 

using the straight-line method from the time they are available for use. Amortisation ceases 

at the earlier of the date the asset is de-recognised, the date the asset is classified as having 

the indefinite useful life or the date the asset is classified as held for sale.
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Non-current assets classified as held for saleF)	

The Group classifies separately in the balance sheet a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held 

for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather 

than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset (or disposal group) is available for 

immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for 

sales of such assets (or disposal groups), its sale is highly probable and sale is expected within one 

year.

The Group measures a non-current asset (or disposal group) classified as held for sale at the lower 

of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The Group recognizes an impairment loss for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset 

(or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell and is accounted for as an impairment loss with 

impact on the statement of comprehensive income of the relevant period. 

From the moment the asset is classified as held for sale and eventually revalued, it ceases to be 

depreciated/amortised and impairment is only being determined. 

Any gain from any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell, but not in excess 

of the cumulative impairment loss that has been recognized, is determined and is accounted for 

in the statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment of assetsG)	

Property, plant and equipment and other assets, including goodwill and intangible assets, are 

reviewed for impairment losses whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying amount may not be recoverable or at least on an annual basis for goodwill and 

for intangibles with an indefinite useful life and for intangibles not yet in use. An impairment loss 

is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 

amount, which is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. For the purposes 

of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level, for which there are separately 

identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). 

Impairment losses are recognised in expenses when incurred. A previously recognised impairment 

loss is reversed (except for the Goodwill impairment loss) only if there has been a change in the 

estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 

recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 

amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 

years. Such reversal is recognised as a reduction in the expenses in the period in which the 

reversal occurs.
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Investments and other financial assetsH)	

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables and available-for-sale 

financial assets.

Financial assets that are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from 

short-term fluctuations in price are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

and are included in current assets. During 2009 and 2008, the Group did not hold any financial 

assets in this category.

Investments with a fixed maturity that management has the intent and ability to hold to maturity 

are classified as held-to-maturity and are disclosed as current or non-current assets, depending on 

the period in which the settlement will take place.

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market and are measured at amortised cost using an effective interest rate 

method and are disclosed as current or non-current assets, depending on the period in which the 

settlement will take place.

Investments intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response 

to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, are classified as available-for-sale; these are 

included in non-current assets unless management has expressed the intention of holding 

the investment for less than 12 months from the balance sheet date or unless they will need to be 

sold to raise operating capital, in which case they are included in current assets.

Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the time 

of the purchase and re-evaluates such designation on a regular basis, as required under IAS 39.

All purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date, which is the date 

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. The cost of purchase includes all transaction 

costs. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale investments are 

subsequently carried at fair value, whilst held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised 

cost using the effective interest rate method. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising 

from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are included 

in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. On the contrary, 

unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale investments 

are included in equity in the period in which they arise, except for impairment losses, until the 

financial asset is de-recognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 

equity is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether financial assets or groups of financial 

assets are impaired.

(1) Assets carried at amortized costs

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held to maturity 

investments carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as 

the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
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cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount 

of the asset is reduced either directly or through use of an allowance account. The amount of the 

loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial 

assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are 

not individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists 

for individually assessed financial assets, whether significant or not, it is included in a group 

of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is 

collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and 

for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective 

assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 

be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and only to the extent that the carrying 

amount of the financial asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective 

evidence (such as the probability of insolvency) that the Group will not be able to collect all of 

the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable 

is reduced through use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are 

assessed as uncollectible or sold.

(2) Available-for-sale financial assets

If this asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been previously recognised (due to fair value 

revaluation) directly in equity shall be removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss even 

though the financial asset has not been derecognised.

The amount of the cumulative loss that is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss 

shall be the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and 

amortisation) and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit 

or loss. 

Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through profit or loss, 

if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring 

after the impairment loss was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

De-recognition of financial assets

A financial asset is de-recognised when:

the rights to receive cash flow from the asset have expired,a)	

the Group retains the right to receive cash flow from the asset, but has assumed an obligation b)	

to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 

arrangement, or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the assets and either has c)	

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or has neither transferred 

nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control 

of the asset.
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LeasesI)	

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance 

of the arrangement at inception date of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent 

on the use of specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the assets.

Leases under which a significant portion of the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively 

retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases 

are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of 

the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment that 

is required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period 

in which termination takes place.

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group bears substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized 

at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present 

value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability 

and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. 

The corresponding lease obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term 

payables (depending on maturity).

The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the statement of comprehensive income 

over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability for each period. If there is a reasonable certainty that the lessee will 

obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the period of expected use is the useful life 

of the asset; otherwise the property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are 

depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.

A sale and lease back transaction involves the sale of an asset and the leasing back of the asset. 

Within the Group’s operations the selling price of the asset and lease payments are independent 

and established at fair value. Therefore the gain from the sale of the asset and the lease 

payments are accounted as two separate transactions.

InventoriesJ)	

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Costs of inventories include the 

purchase price and related costs of acquisition (transport, customs duties and insurance). The cost 

of inventory is determined using weighted average cost. Net realisable value is the estimate 

of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling 

expenses.
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Trade receivablesK)	

Trade receivables are carried at original invoice amount less allowance for impairment of these 

receivables. Such allowance for impairment of trade receivables is established if there is objective 

evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 

terms of receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the carrying amount 

and the recoverable amount, being the present value of expected cash flows, discounted at the 

initial market rate of interest for similar borrowers. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables 

are usually not discounted. The amount of the allowance is recognized in the statement of 

comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalentsL)	

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purposes of the cash 

flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call 

with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months 

or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on 

the balance sheet.

Financial debtM)	

Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. 

In subsequent periods, borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 

method; any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Interest costs on borrowings used to finance the acquisition and construction of qualifying assets 

are capitalized during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for 

its intended use. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

Current and deferred income taxesN)	

Taxation expense represents both current and deferred taxation, where appropriate.

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured 

at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates 

and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by 

the balance sheet date in the relevant country.

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the 

statement of comprehensive income.
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Deferred income taxation is calculated using the liability method applied to all temporary 

differences arising between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying values 

for financial reporting purposes. Currently enacted tax rates and laws expected to apply when the 

asset is realised or the liability is settled are used to determine the deferred income tax.

The principal temporary differences arise from differences in the tax and accounting values 

of property, plant and equipment, impairment of receivables and allowance for obsolete and 

slow moving inventories, non tax deductible allowances and provisions, unused tax credits and, in 

relation to acquisitions, on the difference between the fair values of the net assets acquired and 

their tax base.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The Group accounts for the tax consequences of transactions and other events in the same way 

that it accounts for the transactions and other events themselves. Thus, for transactions and 

other events recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, any related tax effects are 

also recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. For transactions and other events 

recognised directly in equity, any related tax effects are also recognised directly in equity. 

Similarly, the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities in a business combination affects 

the amount of goodwill.

Deferred income tax assets and tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set 

off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate 

to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. The same applies for offsetting of 

current tax assets and liabilities.

Employee benefitsO)	

(1) Pension obligations

Contributions are made to the Government’s health, retirement benefit and unemployment 

schemes at the statutory rates applicable during the period and are based on gross salary 

payments. The arrangements of the Government’s health, retirement benefit and unemployment 

schemes correspond to the arrangements for defined contribution plans. The Group has 

no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The expense for 

the contributions is charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the same period 

as the related salary expense. The Group also makes contributions to defined contribution 

schemes operated by external pension companies. These contributions are charged to the 

statement of comprehensive income in the period to which the contributions relate.

(2) Redundancy and termination benefits

Redundancy and termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before 

the normal retirement or contract expiry date. The Group recognises redundancy and termination 

benefits when it is demonstrably committed to terminate the employment of current employees 

according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal. Benefits falling due 

more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to present value. There are 

no redundancy and termination benefits falling due more than 12 months after the balance 

sheet date.
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(3) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability for bonuses based on a formula that takes into consideration 

certain performance related measures, such as turnover or free cash flow, after certain 

adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where the Group is contractually obliged or where 

there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Share-based compensationP)	

During 2006, the Group introduced performance compensation systems linked to the market 

value of shares of the parent company, Telefónica, S.A. Certain compensation plans are settled in 

cash, while the others are settled via the delivery of shares.

IFRS 2 is applied to compensation schemes linked to the share price with the following accounting 

treatment:

Option plans that can be cash-settled or equity-settled at the option of the employee 

are recognized at the fair value on the grant date of the liability and equity components 

of the compound instrument granted.

In the cash-settled share option plan, the total cost of the rights to shares granted are expensed 

over the period during which the beneficiary earns the full right to exercise the options (vesting 

period). The total cost of the options is initially measured based on their fair value at the grant 

date calculated by the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and 

conditions established in each share option plan. At each subsequent reporting date, the Group 

revises its estimate of fair value and the number of options it expects to vest, booking any change 

in the liability through the statement of comprehensive income for the period, if appropriate.

For the equity-settled share option plan, fair value at the grant date is measured using 

the binominal methodology. These plans are expensed during the vesting period with a credit 

to equity. At each subsequent reporting date, the Group revises its estimate of the number 

of options it expects to be exercised, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. As the plan 

will be settled by a physical delivery of equity instruments of the parent, Telefónica, S.A., to the 

employees, the personnel expense accrued is recognised against equity.

ProvisionsQ)	

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 

as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 

the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the Group expects 

a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when 

the reimbursement is virtually certain.
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Revenue recognitionR)	

Revenue, shown net of Value Added Tax and any discounts, and after eliminating sales within 

the Group, comprises goods sold and services provided. Revenues are measured at their fair value 

of the consideration received or receivable. The amount of revenue is recognised if it can be 

measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction 

will flow to the Group. If necessary, revenue is split into separately identifiable components.

The Group offers customers free minutes for a selected price based on a chosen customer plan. 

Free unused minutes at the end of the month might be rolled over to the following month. The 

Company is not obliged to reimburse the customer for unused minutes and the option of rolling 

over any unused minutes is valid for only one month.

The Group recognises revenue for free minutes in the period when the related services are 

provided and consumed, if material. Any rollover minutes are deferred and recognised when the 

minutes are used or the option expires.

In assessing whether revenue should be recognised gross, i.e. with separate disclosure of costs 

to arrive at gross profit, or on a net basis, the Group considers these indicators of gross revenue 

reporting:

the Group is the primary obligor in the arrangement,a)	

the Group has general inventory risk,b)	

the Group has price latitude,c)	

the Group changes the product or performs part of the service,d)	

the Group has discretion in supplier selection,e)	

the Group is involved in the determination of product or service specifications,f)	

the Group has credit risk,g)	

the Group has the ability to set the terms of the transaction,h)	

the Group has the managerial control over the transaction.i)	

The relative strength of each indicator is considered when concluding which accounting 

treatment to use for principal/agency arrangement.

If a transaction is considered to meet conditions of an agency arrangement, the revenue is 

recognised only at the amount of the commission received/realised, e.g. premium rate lines.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts (long-term contracts) is recognised on the 

percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the percentage of actual cost 

incurred to date to estimated total costs of the contract. An expected loss on the construction 

contract is recognised as an expense immediately, when it is probable that total contract costs 

will exceed total contract revenue.

(1) Fixed line business revenues

Revenue is recognized as follows:

Domestic and international call revenues

Domestic and international call revenues are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the time the call is made.



TELEFÓNICA O2 CZECH REPUBLICAnnual Report 2009

Consolidated financial statements123

Universal service

The Group is obliged to render certain fixed line telephony services defined by the Act on 

Electronic Communications. The Group follows the accounting policy of Telefónica Group. Untill 

March 2008, the Group recognised revenues using netto principle and recognised revenues 

when the contribution was received. From April 2008 untill June 2009 the Group reported 

revenue using gross principle and recognised the compensation when CTO approved the total 

compensation and decided about percentage shares and absolute amounts of other operators 

contributions. As a result of further favourable development in smoothing of the recovery process 

and associated environment, since July 2009 the Group started to recognise the compensation of 

revenues attributable to the Group on standard accrual basis while keeping the gross principle of 

recording.

Subscription revenues

Revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the 

services are rendered.

Revenues from sales of prepaid cards

Prepaid call card sales are deferred until the customer uses the stored value on the card to pay for 

the relevant calls. The expiry date for prepaid cards is not longer than 36 months.

Connection fees

Connection fees, arising from the connection of the customers to the Company’s network, are 

deferred and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the estimated average 

customer relationship period on the basis of the degressive accounting method.

Equipment sales and other sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of telephone equipment and accessories and other sale of goods is 

recognised at the time of sale i.e. when the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.

Local loop unbundling

Revenue from access to the local loop unbundling is deferred in the statement of comprehensive 

income and recognised in the period in which the service is rendered. Regular monthly fee 

is recognised on the straight line basis in the period when the service is consumed. Revenue 

from the preparation of the location (collocation) for an alternative operator is recognized 

upfront in the statement of comprehensive income when it occurs.

(2) Mobile business revenues

The Group earns mobile services revenue from customers usage of the Group’s network, 

interconnection and roaming – collectively, “Mobile service revenue”. The Group also earns 

revenue from the sale of mobile telephone equipment and accessories as well as from activation 

fees.

Airtime revenues

Postpaid customers are billed monthly in arrears for airtime revenues. Revenue from post-paid 

customers is recognised as their airtime and other services are used. Prepaid customers recharge 

a credit, which entitles them to a certain value of airtime and other services. Revenue from 

prepaid customers is deferred and recognized as the airtime and other services are used. Upon 

termination of the customer contract or expiration of voucher (up to 14 months), all deferred 

revenue for unused airtime is recognized in income.
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Both, post-paid and prepaid products may include deliverables such as a handset, activation 

and airtime and that are defined as arrangements with multiple deliverables. The arrangement 

consideration is allocated to each deliverable, based on its fair value. Revenue allocated 

to the identified deliverables in each revenue arrangement is recognized based on the same 

recognition criteria of the individual deliverables at the time the product or service is delivered.

Equipment sales and mobile services

Monthly service revenues and revenues from handset sales are recognized as revenue when the 

product or service is delivered to the distributor or to the end customer. Resulting losses from sale 

of handsets at a discount are recognised at the date of sale.

Roaming revenues

Mobile segment derives roaming revenue as a result of airtime and other services used 

by the mobile segment’s customers roaming on partners’ networks in other countries and vice 

versa. Amounts receivable from and payable to roaming partners are netted and settled net on 

a regular basis.

Costs

Commissions and discounts directly related to the sale of equipment, SIM cards and activations 

are netted against revenue in the period the product is sold to the dealer, distributor or the end 

customer. Other commission payments to dealers for activations, various marketing promotions 

and other activities are included in the costs of sales for the period.

(3) Interconnect revenues

Interconnect revenues are derived from calls and other traffic that originate in other domestic 

and foreign operators’ network but use the Group’s network. These revenues are recognised 

in the statement of comprehensive income at the time when the call is received in the 

Group’s network. The Group pays a proportion of the call revenue it collects from its customers 

to other domestic and foreign operators’ for calls and other traffic that originate in the 

Group’s network but use other domestic and foreign operators’ network. Amounts receivable 

from and payable to other domestic and foreign operators are netted and settled net on 

a regular basis.

(4) Internet, IPTV and data services

The Group earns revenue from providing Internet services, IPTV and other data services. Revenue 

from such services is recognised at the time the service is provided.

(5) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

(6) Interest

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method).

(7) Instalment sales

Revenue attributable to the sales price, exclusive of interest, is recognised at the date of sale. The 

sale price is the present value of the consideration, determined by discounting the instalments 

receivable at the imputed rate of interest. The interest element is recognised as revenue as it is 

earned, using the effective interest method.
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Dividend distributionS)	

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability 

in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved 

by the Company’s shareholders.

Financial instrumentsT)	

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and bank balances, investments, 

receivables, payables, borrowings and derivatives. Detailed figures are described in Note 15.

Financial risk management

The Group’s is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in debt 

market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates as a result of ordinary 

business, debt taken on to finance its business and net investment in foreign operations. 

The Group’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 

and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. 

The Group uses either derivative financial instruments (such as forward and swap contracts) or 

non-derivative instruments (such as cash instruments) to hedge certain exposures.

The Group does not conduct any speculative trading activities.

Risk management is carried out by the treasury department under approved policies. The Board 

of Directors provides written principles for overall risk management. In line with these principles, 

policies exist for specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 

liquidity risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investing excess liquidity.

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily 

with respect to the Euro and partially to US Dollar:

balance sheet items (such as debt, receivables, payables) denominated in foreign currencya)	

probable forecasted transactions or firm commitments (such as purchases or sales) b)	

denominated in foreign currency,

net investment in Slovak subsidiary (functional currency differs from CZK).c)	

The Group’s objective in managing its exposure to foreign currency fluctuations is to minimize 

earnings and cash flow volatility associated with foreign exchange rate changes.

The Group primarily hedges the balance sheet foreign currency exposure, mainly long term debt 

denominated in EUR and net payables in EUR or USD. Just plain-vanilla instruments are currently 

used for hedging this kind of exposure.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk arising from:

floating interest rate bearing cash investments and debt instruments,a)	

fair value of debt on fixed interest rate.b)	
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The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market 

interest rates. The cash assets and short term debt are currently maintained on floating rates 

while long term debt instruments are on fixed rates. The Group may sometimes use interest rate 

swaps and forward rate agreements to manage a mix of fixed and variable rate debts.

(iii) Liquidity risk

The Group’s essential objective of liquidity risk management is to have ready access to cash 

resources sufficient to meet all its cash payment obligations as they fall due, allowing some 

flexibility. The cash resources consist of generated cash position (maintained in quickly liquid 

instruments), and committed credit facilities arranged with banks.

The Group is particularly focusing on the liquidity profile within the time horizon of the next 

12 months considering projected cash flow from operations and maturity structure of both debt 

obligations and financial investments. The balance between funding continuity and flexibility is 

managed through maintaining the possible use of bank overdrafts or bilateral credit lines.

(iv) Credit risk

Concentrations of credit risk, with respect to trade accounts receivable, are limited due 

to the large number of customers. However, substantially all trade receivables are concentrated 

within the Czech Republic. Although the Group does not currently foresee a dramatically higher 

credit risk associated with these receivables, repayment is significantly impacted by the financial 

stability of the national economy.

The Group trades only with recognized, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that 

all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. 

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 

Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The maximum exposure is the carrying amount 

as disclosed in Note 12. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

With respect to credit risk arising from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise 

cash and cash equivalents, available for sale investments and certain derivative instruments, 

the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum 

exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

Credit Risk is managed by the Credit Management Department and is based on three main 

activities:

monitoring of accounts receivables: regular monitoring of payment moral of existing a)	

customers and monitoring and analyzing of the receivable aging structure (internal and 

external indicators of any potential bad debts),

prevention: scoring of new customers – checking procedures (Black Lists, External Debtors b)	

Register, other information), set up the limits or/and collection of the deposit according to 

customer segments, products and set up the credit limits for indirect sales partners (dealers, 

distributors, retailers) for purchase of our products, „securing“ of credit limits (deposits, 

receivables insurance, bill of exchange, pledge of real estate, bank guarantee etc.). Guarantees 

are either in cash (deposits) or there are special procedures to collect cash for the other 

securing tools (insurance etc.),

collection: reasonable, effective and continual collection process is the additional tool of bad c)	

debts decrease and prevention as well.
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New credit management activities during last years

During last years the Group introduced new credit management activities such as:

of the connection to the external Debtors Register Solus (sharing debtors data with other a)	

members – banks, other telecommunication operators, leasing companies etc.),

of the credit management best practice from the merge of the fixed and mobile business in all b)	

company activities,

checking of the new activation by using of integrated Black Lists,c)	

implementation of strict activation rules for all distribution channels.d)	

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at cost and 

subsequently are re-measured at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain 

or loss is dependent on the nature of the item being hedged. On the date a derivative contract is 

entered into, the Group designates certain derivatives as either:

hedge of the fair value of a recognised asset or liability (fair value hedge), ora)	

hedge of a forecasted transaction or of a firm commitment (cash flow hedge).b)	

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges 

and that are highly effective are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, along with 

changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges 

and that are highly effective are recognised in equity. Where the forecasted transaction or firm 

commitment results in the recognition of an asset or of a liability, the gains and losses previously 

deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost 

of the asset or liability. Otherwise, amounts deferred in equity are transferred to the statement 

of comprehensive income and classified as revenue or expense in the same periods during which 

the hedged firm commitment or forecasted transaction affects the statement of comprehensive 

income.

Certain derivative transactions, while providing effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk 

management policies, either do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific rules in IAS 

39 or the Group has elected not to apply the specific IAS 39 hedge accounting provisions. Changes 

in the fair value of such derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are 

recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria 

for hedge accounting under IAS 39, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time 

remains in equity and is recognised when the committed or forecasted transaction ultimately is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. However, if a committed or forecasted 

transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity 

is immediately transferred to the statement of comprehensive income.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging 

instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy 

for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives 

designated as hedges to specific assets and liabilities or to specific firm commitments or forecast 
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transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at the hedge inception and 

on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly 

effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 

19. Movements on the hedging reserve in shareholder’s equity are shown in Note 24.

Fair value estimation

Except for currency options, the fair values of the derivative financial instruments reflect 

estimates based on calculations performed using the Group’s own discounted cash flow models 

(using market rates). The fair value of currency options is based on information obtained 

from external parties, including the Group’s bankers.

Critical accounting estimates and judgmentsU)	

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 

estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances.

The estimates and assumptions that might have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 

to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next year are discussed below:

(1) Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group created a provision for current income taxes and in consideration of the temporary 

differences also for deferred tax. There are many transactions and calculations for which 

the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business and 

the measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would 

follow from the manner in which the Group expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of 

assets and liabilities. Where the final tax-deductible expenses are different from the amounts that 

were calculated, such differences will impact the current income and deferred tax provisions in 

the period in which such determination is made. As at 31 December 2009, the total amount of 

provision for current income taxes is CZK 3,248 million, advances paid for income taxes amount to 

CZK 3,945 million and the net deferred tax liability is CZK 3,333 million.

In October 2007, the new Czech legislation was enacted, by which the corporate income tax rate 

was reduced from 24 % to 21 %, 20 % and 19 % for the fiscal years ending in 2008, 2009 and 

2010, respectively (see Note 5).

(2) Goodwill

The Group tests at each reporting date goodwill for an impairment. However goodwill does not 

generate cash flows independently of other assets or groups of assets and the assessment of its 

carrying value is significantly impacted by the management’s assessment of the performance and 

expected future performance of the operation to which the goodwill relates. In accordance with 

the requirement of IAS 36, goodwill is tested annually for its recoverable amount, as well as when 

there are indications of impairment. At 31 December 2009 the carrying amount of goodwill is 

CZK 13,448 million (See Note 9).
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(3) Provisions and contingent liabilities

As set out in Note 20 the Group is a participant in several lawsuits and administrative proceedings 

including those related to its pricing policies. The Group’s treatment of obligations with uncertain 

timing and amount depends on the management’s estimation of the amount and timing of the 

obligation and probability of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits that will 

be required to settle the obligation (both legal or constructive). A provision is recognised when 

the Group has a present obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. Contingent liabilities are not recognised, because their existence will 

be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 

not wholly within the control of the Group. Contingent liabilities are assessed continually to 

determine whether an outflow of resource embodying economic benefits has become probable. 

If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will be required for an item 

previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the financial statements 

of the period in which the change in probability occurs.

(4) Interconnect

The Group provides and enters into the contracts for interconnect services and the revenue is 

recognised on the basis of the reasonable estimation of expected amount. Such estimation is 

regularly reviewed, however the final agreement and invoicing can be with some operators 

stated on up to a yearly basis.

(5) Impairment of the fixed line business assets

The Group makes an assessment at each balance sheet date whether there is any indication that 

an impairment loss recognised for the fixed line business assets in prior years may no longer exist, 

may have decreased or may have increased. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates 

a recoverable amount of the assets and compares to the carrying value (net of the impairment 

allowance). In assessing whether there is any indication that the impairment loss recognised in 

the past may no longer exist, the Group considers both external and internal indicators (decline 

of asset’s market value, changes expected in the market, including technological changes etc.). 

Where an estimate of recoverable amount is calculated, there is a number of management 

assumptions about future business performance, which may, ultimately, differ from reality.

Based on the assessment performed by the Company, no increase or decrease of the previously 

recognised impairment of fixed line business assets was recognised in 2009 and 2008 (see Note 8 

and 10).

(6) Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee

In 2007 the Group changed its headquarters and moved to the new premises, where the 

Group has entered into the commercial property leases. The Group has determined, based 

on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that the lessor retains all 

the significant risks and rewards of the ownership and therefore the Group accounts for the 

contract as an operating lease.

(7) Advertising and promotional activities

The Group recognizes the expenditures on advertising and promotional activities as an expense 

when they incurred. Both production costs and advertising and promotional materials are 

immediately expensed when received.
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Change in accounting policyV)	

No significant changes in accounting policies were applied in 2009 and 2008.

Operating profitW)	

Operating profit is defined as profit before financial results and taxes and represents profit 

from the business operations. Financial results consist of interest income, interest expense, other 

financial expense (which include primarily bank charges), fair value losses and gains on financial 

instruments and foreign exchange gains and losses.
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Segment information1)	

Business segments recognised by the Group are as follows:

Fixed – network communications services using a fixed network and IS/ICT services provided by ——

the Company and other consolidated subsidiaries,

Mobile – mobile communications services provided by the Company and by ——

Telefónica O2 Slovakia

Year ended 31 December 2009 

In CZK million Fixed Mobile* Group

Revenues 27,387 33,500 60,887

Inter-segment sales (394) (604) (998)

Total consolidated revenues 26,993 32,896 59,889

Gains from sale of non-current assets 422 – 422

Internal expenses capitalised in fixed assets 525 262 787

Costs (15,323) (19,674) (34,997)

Inter-segment purchases 604 394 998

Total consolidated costs (14,719) (19,280) (33,999)

Impairment charge (17) (6) (23)

Depreciation (7,040) (2,937) (9,977)

Amortisation (850) (1,174) (2,024)

Total consolidated depreciation and amortization (7,890) (4,111) (12,001)

Operating profit 5,314 9,761 15,075

Interest and other financial costs (net) (198)

Profit before tax 14,877

Tax (3,211)

Profit after tax 11,666

Minority interest –

Net profit 11,666

Assets (excluding goodwill and non-current assets held for sale) 51,455 27,770 79,225

Goodwill 128 13,320 13,448

Non-current assets held for sale 95 – 95

Total assets 51,678 41,090 92,768

Trade and other payables 4,826 7,266 12,092

Other liabilities 3,129 3,668 6,797

Total liabilities 7,955 10,934 18,889

Capital expenditure 3,256 3,233 6,489

*	S tandalone Revenues of Telefónica O2 Slovakia of CZK 1,961 million included.
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Year ended 31 December 2008 

In CZK million Fixed Mobile** Group

Revenues 30,484 35,419 65,903

Inter-segment sales (423) (771) (1,194)

Total consolidated revenues 30,061 34,648 64,709

Gains from sale of non-current assets 855 – 855

Internal expenses capitalised in fixed assets 338 146 484

Costs (18,717) (20,127) (38,844)

Inter-segment purchases 771 423 1,194

Total consolidated costs (17,946) (19,704) (37,650)

Impairment charge (83) (3) (86)

Depreciation (7,263) (3,731) (10,994)

Amortisation (654) (1,284) (1,938)

Total consolidated depreciation and amortization (7,917) (5,015) (12,932)

Operating profit 5,308 10,072 15,380

Interest and other financial costs (net) (32)

Profit before tax 15,348

Tax (3,720)

Profit after tax 11,628

Minority interest –

Net profit 11,628

Assets (excluding goodwill and non-current assets held for sale) 37,863 52,216 90,079

Goodwill 128 13,320 13,448

Non-current assets held for sale 96 – 96

Total assets 38,087 65,536 103,623

Trade and other payables 6,199 11,487 17,686

Other liabilities 3,739 4,030 7,769

Total liabilities 9,938 15,517 25,455

Capital expenditure 4,312 3,776 8,088

** Standalone revenues of Telefónica O2 Slovakia of CZK 1,141 million included.

Revenue of the Group is predominantly derived from domestic trading activities and as a result, 

segment reporting is only shown on the basis of business segments. With respect to the issue of 

IFRS 8 Operating segments and the deep integration process from the past convergence of fixed 

and mobile operations, the Group has analysed criteria for segment identification. The adoption 

of the standard has not led to a change in the reported segments.

The inter-segment pricing rates applied in 2009 and 2008 were determined on the same basis as 

rates applicable for other mobile operators and are consistent with rates applied for pricing with 

other mobile operators.

Capital expenditures comprise additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
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Revenue and Internal expenses capitalized in fixed assets2)	

Revenue 

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Voice – outgoing 13,162 15,301

Interconnection and other wholesale services 9,973 10,428

Monthly and one-off charges from voice services 15,370 16,412

Connection charges 147 295

SMS & MMS & Value added services 4,898 5,080

Leased lines and fixed data services 3,509 3,866

Internet (including monthly and one-off charges), 

mobile data services and IPTV 7,406 6,463

IT and business solutions 2,760 2,308

Equipment and activation fee 1,545 2,045

Other telecommunication revenues 981 2,253

Other revenues 138 258

Total revenues 59,889 64,709

Categories of revenues were rearranged in order to improve the presentation of revenues.

Revenues from related parties are disclosed in Note 25.

The aggregate future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, where 

the Company is a lessor and give rise to future revenues consist of the buildings and other 

telecommunication equipment rentals as follows:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

No later than 1 year 146 185

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 605 754

Later than 5 years 156 198

Total 907 1,137

Internal expenses capitalized in fixed assets 

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Material 15 79

Labour 772 405

Total 787 484
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Operating expenses3)	

The following items have been included into the operating expenses:

Operating expenses 

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Wages and salaries* 5,057 5,163

Redundancy payments 161 160

Social security contributions (Note 17) 1,642 1,626

Staff welfare costs 262 157

Total staff costs 7,122 7,106

Interconnection and roaming 11,381 11,989

Cost of goods sold 2,308 3,258

Contents 266 220

Customer loyalty program 77 363

Sub-deliveries 1,298 1,213

Commissions 1,212 1,213

Telecom services 232 198

Other cost of sales 672 1,127

Billing and collection 422 399

Marketing 1,576 1,927

Call centres 426 305

Network & IT repairs and maintenance 2,414 2,529

Rentals, buildings and vehicles 2,190 2,168

Utilities supplies 1,087 1,081

Consultancy and professional fees 184 270

Other external services 174 1,245

Provision for bad and doubtful debts and inventories 478 530

Taxes (other than income tax) 447 423

Other operating expenses 33 86

Total operating expenses 33,999 37,650

*	 Certain Group employees (including the Board of Directors) with specialised know how, or who have access 

to business secrets, or who are considered important to the development of the business, are bound by non-

competition restrictions, for a maximum period of 12 months from the date of termination of their employment 

with the Group. The Group paid CZK 14 million in relation to such non-competition clauses in 2009 (2008: 

CZK 11 million).

Categories of costs were rearranged in order to improve the presentation of costs.

Statutory auditor’s fees for the year ended 31 December 2009 were as follows:

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Statutory audit 25 23

Purchases from related parties are disclosed in Note 25.
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Interest and other finance income and expense4)	

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Financial income

Interest income 167 449

Gain for derivatives of fair value 71 65

Other financial income 1,067 1,333

Total financial income 1,305 1,847

Financial expenses

Interest expenses (263) (406)

Other financial expenses (1,240) (1,473)

Total financial expenses (1,503) (1,879)

Net financial loss (198) (32)

Income tax 5)	

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Total income tax expense is made up of:

Current income tax charge 3,178 3,777

Deferred income tax credit (Note 16) 33 (57)

Taxes on income 3,211 3,720

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 

using the basic tax rate of the home country of the Group as follows:

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Profit before tax 14,877 15,348

Income tax charge calculated at the statutory rate of 

20 % (2008: 21 %) 2,975 3,223

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 151 164

Tax related to prior periods (69) 22

Unrecognised tax losses 154 311

Taxes on income 3,211 3,720

Effective tax rate 22 % 24 %
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Earnings per share6)	

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders 

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Weighted number of ordinary shares in issue 322,089,900 322,089,900

Net profit attributable to shareholders (in CZK million) 11,666 11,628

Basic earnings per share (CZK) 36 36

There is no dilution of earnings as no convertible instruments have been issued by the Company.

Dividends7)	

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Dividends declared (including withholding tax) 16,104 16,104

Dividends include withholding tax on dividends paid by the Company to its shareholders. 

There has been no interim dividend paid in respect of 2009. Approval of the 2009 profit 

and the decision regarding the amount of any dividend payment for the 2009 financial year will 

take place at the Annual General Shareholders Meeting.
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Property, plant and equipment8)	

In CZK million

Land and 

buildings

Ducts, cables 

and related 

plant

Communication 

exchanges 

and related 

equipment

Other fixed 

assets

Capital work 

in progress 

including 

advances paid Total

At 31 December 2009

Opening net book amount  10, 764 36,227 11,187 1,891 3,360 63,429

Additions 562 760 2,273 871 4,307 8,773

Disposals and other movements 995 398 (1,334) (103) (4,435) (4,479)

Assets classified as held for sale (185) (3) – – – (188)

Depreciation charge (712) (4,238) (4,096) (931) – (9,977)

Impairment charge – – (1) – (12) (13)

Closing net book amount 11,424 33,144 8,029 1,728 3,220 57,545

At 31 December 2009

Cost 19,954 101,175 88,248 9,646 3,252 222,275

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment allowance (8,530) (68,031) (80,219) (7,918) (32) (164,730)

Net book amount 11,424 33,144 8,029 1,728 3,220 57,545

At 31 December 2008

Opening net book amount  14,080 39,710 13,207 2,003 2,809 71,809

Additions 672 769 2,923 1,076 5,630 11,070

Disposals and other movements 24 – (8) (7) (5,066) (5,057)

Acquisition impact – – – 2 – 2

Assets classified as held for sale (3,285) (25) (6) – – (3,316)

Depreciation charge (678) (4,206) (4,927) (1,183) – (10,994)

Impairment charge (49) (21) (2) – (13) (85)

Closing net book amount 10,764 36,227 11,187 1,891 3,360 63,429

At 31 December 2008

Cost 17,718 99,982 91,788 10,486 3,385 223,359

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment allowance (6,954) (63,755) (80,601) (8,595) (25) (159,930)

Net book amount 10,764 36,227 11,187 1,891 3,360 63,429

As at 31 December 2009, the carrying value of non-depreciated assets amounted 

to CZK 214 million (2008: CZK 241 million).

No property, plant and equipment were pledged as at 31 December 2009.

No borrowing costs were capitalized during the years 2009 and 2008.

The Group reviewed useful lives of assets in 2009 and adjusted when appropriate. This review did 

not have a material impact on the financial results in 2009. Change in estimate of useful life of 

assets has been made prospectively since 1 January 2010.

The Group reports and classifies the following assets held for sale at the balance sheet date:
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In CZK million

Land and 

buildings

Communication 

exchanges 

and related 

equipment

Other fixed 

assets Total

At 31 December 2009

Opening net book amount 96 – – 96

Disposals and other movements (179) – – (179)

Impairment charge (10) – – (10)

Assets re-classified as held for sale 188 – – 188

Closing net book amount 95 – – 95

At 31 December 2009

Cost 804 120 76 1,000

Accumulated depreciation and impairment allowance (709) (120) (76) (905)

Net book amount 95 – – 95

At 31 December 2008

Opening net book amount 327 1 – 328

Disposals and other movements (3,540) (7) – (3,547)

Impairment charge (1) – – (1)

Assets re-classified as held for sale 3,310 6 – 3,316

Closing net book amount 96 – – 96

At 31 December 2008

Cost 789 187 6 982

Accumulated depreciation and impairment allowance (693) (187) (6) (886)

Net book amount 96 – – 96

Assets intended for sale in most cases represent administration buildings with land, that became 

vacant due to the Group’s optimization process and which the Group will not use in the future 

and it is expected that their sale will take place within one year.

The non-current assets classified as held for sale are presented in the fixed segment.

In 2009, the Group achieved a total gain from the sale of the above fixed assets amounting 

to CZK 422 million (2008: CZK 855 million) and total losses in amount CZK 14 million (2008: 

CZK 59 million).

In 2008 and at the beginning of 2009, the Group completed the substantial part of a real 

estate usage optimisation process. In 2008, as part of this process, the Group sold a portfolio 

of administrative and technological buildings located throughout the whole Czech Republic. 

Net gain from the sale of the real estate portfolio amounted to CZK 727 million. A small portion 

of the real estate was leased back on the long term basis. In January 2009, the Group sold 

a construction site and two administrative buildings of the former headquarters in Olšanská 

street in Prague with a net gain exceeding CZK 300 million.

Cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment was CZK 69,937 million 

as at 31 December 2009 (2008: CZK 59,597 million).
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Intangible assets9)	

In CZK million Goodwill Licences Software Total

At 31 December 2009

Opening net book amount 13,448 4,425 4,475 22,348

Additions – – 2,161 2,161

Disposals and other 

movements – (2) (6) (8)

Amortisation charge – (394) (1,630) (2,024)

Closing net book amount 13,448 4,029 5,000 22,477

At 31 December 2009

Cost 13,448 6,223 26,478 46,149

Accumulated amortisation 

and impairment allowance – (2,194) (21,478) (23,672)

Net book amount 13,448 4,029 5,000 22,477

At 31 December 2008

Opening net book amount 13,320 4,816 3,669 21,805

Additions – – 2,371 2,371

Disposals and other 

movements – 15 (38) (23)

Acquisition impact 128 – 5 133

Amortisation charge – (406) (1,532) (1,938)

Closing net book amount 13,448 4,425 4,475 22,348

At 31 December 2008

Cost 13,448 6,226 24,601 44,275

Accumulated amortisation 

and impairment allowance – (1,801) (20,126) (21,927)

Net book amount 13,448 4,425 4,475 22,348

The Group reviewed useful lives of assets in 2009 and adjusted when appropriate. This review did 

not have a material impact on the financial results.

Goodwill

Goodwill in amount of CZK 13,320 million resulted from the acquisition of the remaining 

49% ownership interest in Eurotel Praha spol. s r.o. (“Eurotel”) The initially recognized 

goodwill of CZK 14,087 million resulted from comparison of cost of business combination 

of CZK 29,215 million and fair value of net assets acquired of CZK 15,128 million. Until 

31 December 2004 goodwill was amortised on a straight line basis over a period of 20 years and 

assessed for an indication of impairment at each balance sheet date.

Due to a revision of IFRS 3, IAS 36 and IAS 38 the Group ceased amortisation of the previously 

recognized goodwill from 1 January 2005. Accumulated amortisation as at 31 December 2004 

was eliminated with a corresponding decrease in the cost of goodwill (CZK 767 million). Since the 

year ending 31 December 2005 onwards, goodwill is classified as an asset with indefinite useful 

life which has been tested annually for the impairment, as well as when there are indications of 

impairment. There is no other intangible asset with indefinite useful life.
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The Group performed impairment tests and as result of the test the Group did not recognize 

any impairment losses of goodwill in 2009 and 2008. The impairment test involves determining 

the recoverable amount of the mobile cash-generating unit, which corresponds to the value 

in use. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from 

a cash-generating unit.

Value in use is determined on the basis of an enterprise valuation model and is assessed from a Group 

internal perspective. Value in use is determined based on cash flow budgets, which are based on the 

medium-term business plan for a period of 3 years, which has been approved by the management 

and which is valid when the impairment test is performed. This business plan is based on the past 

experience, as well as on future market trends. Further, the business plan is based on general 

economic data derived from macroeconomic and financial studies. Cash flows beyond the three-year 

period are extrapolated using an appropriate growth rates. Key assumptions on which management 

has based its determination of business plan and growth rates include development of gross domestic 

product, interest rates, nominal wages, average revenue per user (“ARPU”), customer acquisition and 

retention costs, churn rates, capital expenditure, market share, growth rates and discount rates.

Any significant future changes in the market and competitive environments could have an 

adverse effect on the value of the cash-generating units.

The calculations of value in use for all cash-generating units are most sensitive to the following 

assumptions:

Estimated growth rate – the basis used to determine the value assigned to estimated growth rate 

is the forecast of the market and regulatory environment, where the Group conducts its business.

Discount rate – discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the risk specific to the cash 

generating unit. The basis used to determine the value assigned is weighted average of cost of 

capital (“WACC”).

Licences

Acquired licences are represented by rights to operate the UMTS, GSM and NMT cellular networks 

in the Czech Republic. The original 450 MHz and GSM operating licenses were granted for a period 

of twenty years from the signing of the agreement for the original 450 MHz license in 1991 

and from the granting of the GSM license in 1996 for use of the 900 spectrum. In 1999, Eurotel 

acquired an additional GSM 1800 spectrum under its existing GSM license. In 2002, the GSM license 

to both spectrums was renewed and is currently valid for the remaining period of seven years.

In 2002, Eurotel renewed its 450 MHz license; the current license enables the mobile segment to 

offer every internationally recognized public mobile telecommunication services on frequency of 

450 MHz. Mobile segment currently provides on this frequency voice services under NMT standard 

and broadband Internet access services using CDMA technology. The NMT license is currently valid 

for the remaining period of two years.

In December 2001, Eurotel acquired the UMTS license, which has been granted for a period of 

twenty years. Under the license, Eurotel was provided with deferred payment terms by the Czech 

Telecommunication Office (“CTO”) to finance the license acquisition. In December 2003, Eurotel 

signed an amendment to its original UMTS license agreement, by which the original launch 

of the service was extended by one year. According to the terms of this new amendment, Eurotel 

agreed to pay the UMTS obligation in full during 2004 in exchange for a forgiveness of 2003 and 
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2004 interest on the deferred payments provided as part of the UMTS license agreement. UMTS 

license was put into commercial use on 1 December 2005 when it also started to be amortized.

With respect to the operation launch in 2007, the license for GSM and UMTS networks was 

awarded to Telefónica O2 Slovakia on 7 September 2006 for SKK 150 million (EUR 4.1 million).

Carrying value of licences:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

GSM 900 license 474 546

GSM 1800 license 382 440

NMT 450 license 26 33

UMTS license 3,019 3,268

GSM and UMTS license – TO2 Slovakia 128 138

Total 4,029 4,425

No borrowing costs were capitalized during the years 2009 and 2008.

Cost of fully amortised intangible assets was CZK 16,403 million as at 31 December 2009 

(2008: CZK 16,846 million).

All of the Group’s intangible assets with finite lives are amortised and are subject to an annual 

review of impairment indicators and revision of useful life.

Impairment of fixed assets10)	

Fixed assets of the fixed line business

During 2003, external factors relating to the telecommunication market and regulatory 

environment namely uncertainty regarding tariff rebalancing, termination charges for internet 

dial-up interconnection charges and other regulatory decisions in the Czech Republic led 

the management to assess and adjust the recoverable amount of the fixed line segment assets. 

The fixed line segment assets constitute one cash-generating unit (the “CGU”).

Value in use has been calculated by a method of cumulated discounted cash flows for a period 

limited by average useful life of the CGU’s key assets. Primarily, the following assumptions have 

been used in the impairment testing model: actual business plan, estimation of consecutive 

development of key indicators (revenues, margin, investments etc.) in the analyzed period, 

discount rate derived from weighted average cost of capital.

As at 31 December 2009, the management of the Company reviewed the indicators which would 

indicate that the impairment allowance of fixed line business assets made in 2003 is no longer 

relevant and should be adjusted upwards and downwards. Upon the review, a recoverable amount 

of the fixed line business assets (impairment test model) was estimated. Based on this assessment 

performed, the management believes that the value of the existing fixed network assets is fairly 

stated and does not differ substantially from the assets’ recoverable amount as at 31 December 2009.

Value in use as at 31 December 2009 has been calculated using the same methodology as in the 

year 2003.
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Inventories11)	

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Telecommunication material 159 114

Cables 31 47

Other inventory including goods for resale 404 607

Finished products and work in progress 24 11

Total 618 779

The inventories noted above are stated net of an allowance of CZK 68 million (2008: 

CZK 64 million), reducing the value of the inventories to their net realisable value. The total 

carrying amount of inventories at net realisable value amounts to CZK 55 million (2008: 

CZK 31 million). The amount of inventories recognised as an expense is CZK 2,765 million (2008: 

CZK 4,059 million).

Receivables and prepayments12)	

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Trade receivables (net) 8,464 7,794

Other debtors (net) 402 650

Prepayments 799 759

Other financial assets – short-term – 14

Derivative instruments 108 23

Total 9,773 9,240

Trade receivables are stated net of bad debt provision of CZK 3,661 million (2008: CZK 

3,457 million). In order to preserve the tax-deductible status of the bad debt expense, the 

Group’s trade receivables are not written off and removed from the primary books and records 

until certain statutory collection requirements have been satisfied.

The Group reviewed and adjusted the bad debts provision policy in 2009 according to collection 

rates of accounts receivables. This review resulted in a release of provisions in the amount of 

CZK 215 million.

Receivables from related parties are disclosed in Note 25.

Trade receivables 

In CZK million

Carrying 

amount

Neither 

Impaired 

nor overdue

Not impaired but overdue

Less than 

90 days

90 and 

180 days 

180 and 

360 days 

More than 

360 days

At 31 December 2009 8,464 3,579 321 207 131 50

At 31 December 2008 7,794 5,101 552 – 30 36
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Bad debt provisions In CZK million

At 1 January 2008 3,291

Additions 1,057

Retirements/amount paid (891)

At 31 December 2008 3,457

Additions 963

Retirements/amount paid (759)

At 31 December 2009 3,661

The Group’s historical experience regarding the collection of accounts receivable is consistent 

with the recorded allowances. Due to these factors, the management believes that no additional 

credit risk beyond the amounts provided for is inherent in the Group’s trade receivables.

As at 31 December 2009 the Group presented non-current assets of CZK 285 million (2008: 

CZK 378 million) consisting of long-term credits and advance payments for long-term expenses, 

which are classified as other financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents13)	

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008 Interest rate

Cash at current bank accounts 169 330 Floating

Cash at cash-pooling structures 

(inter-company) 1,100 6,344 Floating

Short-term bank deposits – 442 Fixed

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,269 7,116

As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s cash equivalents partially consisted of short-term bank 

promissory notes that were economically equivalent to bank term deposits and interest bearing 

deposits maturing in three months or less.

Since April 2006, the Group entered into mutual Telefónica Group cash-pooling, which enables 

the Telefónica Group good financial governance and effective operating free cash flow. The 

short-term deposits conditions are based on the arm’s length principle. The short-term deposits 

are classified as cash equivalents.

At 31 December 2009, the Group had available equivalent of CZK 4,115 million (2008: 

CZK 5,425 million) of undrawn committed facilities.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, the year-end cash and cash equivalents comprise 

only the following component:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Cash and cash equivalents 1,269 7,116

As of 31 December 2009 no cash and cash equivalents were pledged.
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Trade and other payables14)	

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Trade creditors (net) 3,912 6,776

Related party loans – 3,249

Other taxes and social security 198 196

Deferred revenue 1,032 1,054

Employee wages and benefits 784 794

VAT payable 598 479

Other creditors 297 406

Accruals 5,271 4,732

Total payables 12,092 17,686

Other non-current liabilities 21 176

In 2008 the related party loans included an intercompany loan in amount of CZK 3,194 million 

provided to Telefónica O2 Slovakia by the company Telfisa Global, BV (see Note 25).

As at 31 December 2009 other non-current liabilities include primarily principals and liabilities 

with maturity in more than 12 months. As at 31 December 2008 other non-current liabilities 

include primarily deferred revenues from connection fees, which were expected to be taken to 

income in more than 12 months from the balance sheet date.

Financial debt15)	

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Bank loans in foreign currencies (a) 3,044 3,098

Bonds in local currency (b) – 5

Total borrowings 3,044 3,103

Accrued interest including commitment fees 84 86

Derivatives 3 7

Other financial debt 87 93

Total financial debt 3,131 3,196

Repayable:

 Within one year 87 98

 Between two and five years (total non-current) 3,044 3,098

Total financial debt 3,131 3,196

In July 1997, the Company raised a private placement in the total amount of EUR 127.8 million a)	

with a maturity date on 30 July 2012. As at 31 December 2009, the outstanding amount of the 

foreign currency loan amounts to EUR 115 million. As at 31 December 2009 the Group does not 

utilize bank overdrafts.

In 2003, the Group issued CZK 6,000 million of bonds with an interest rate 3.50 % p.a. and it b)	

was fully repaid at a maturity date of 9 July 2008.

For all borrowings, interest has been charged at commercial rates.
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The Group’s loan interest rate allocation after taking into account interest rate swaps was 

as follows:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

At fixed rate 3,044 3,103

The fair values of borrowings are based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based 

upon the borrowing rate that the Board of Directors expects to be available to the Group 

at the balance sheet date. The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings approximate their fair 

value.

Effective interest rates 2009 2008

Bank loans in foreign currencies 6.64 % 6.64 %

Bonds in local currency – 3.50 %

Loans are not secured over any assets of the Group.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial and trade liabilities 

at 31 December 2009 based on contractual undiscounted payments.

At 31 December 2009  

In CZK million

Less than 

3 months

3 to 12 

months 1 to 5 years > 5 years

Interest bearing loans and borrowings – 202 3,448 –

Trade and other payables  

(except for deferred revenue) 9,878 1,182 – –

Derivatives fair value 3 – – –

Total 9,881 1,384 3,448 –

Non-current other liabilities – – 14 7

At 31 December 2008  

In CZK million

Less than 

3 months

3 to 12 

months 1 to 5 years > 5 years

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 5 206 3,715 –

Trade and other payables  

(except for deferred revenue) 14,796 1,836 – –

Derivatives fair value 7 – – –

Total 14,808 2,042 3,715 –

Non-current other liabilities – – 169 7
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Fair values

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all 

of the Group’s financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements.

In CZK million

Carrying amount Fair value

2009 2008 2009 2008

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,269 7,116 1,269 7,116

Derivatives 108 23 108 23

Other financial assets 285 378 285 378

Carrying amount Fair value

2009 2008 2009 2008

Financial liabilities

Interest bearing loans and borrowings:

Floating rate inter-company borrowings – 3,249 – 3,249

Fixed rate borrowings 3,128 3,184 3,432 3,503

Issued Bonds – 5 – 5

Derivatives 3 7 3 7

The fair value of derivatives and borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected 

future cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

Fair value hierarchy

As at 31 December 2009, the Group held the following financial instruments measured at fair 

value:

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 

instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair 

value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 

that are not based on observable market data.

Assets measured at fair value

At 31 December 2009

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss

In CZK million Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Foreign exchange contracts – non-hedged 108 – 108 –

Liabilities measured at fair value

At 31 December 2009

Financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss

In CZK million Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Foreign exchange forward contracts – non-hedged 3 – 3 –
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During the reporting period ending 31 December 2009, there were no transfers between Level 

1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value 

measurements.

Financial risk analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in foreign 

exchange rates and interest rates.

In CZK million

Effect on profit before tax

2009 2008

FX risk

Value at Risk* (298) (395)

Stress testing* (56) (76)

IR risk

Stress testing* (76) (114)

*	 The Value at Risk (VaR) Model enables the Group estimate the probability of maximum possible loss to the portfolio 

value in the given time frame which will not be exceeded given the defined reliability level. For conducting a VaR 

calculation, the Group uses the risk variance and covariance method using the normal distribution (e.g. parametric 

method). The time frame used is one month with a 95 % reliability rate. Considering the importance of net open 

positions resulting from financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group in individual foreign currencies, the 

Group models VaR from a position of translation and transaction in EUR and USD.

FX risk used stress scenario represents the immediate loss caused by one-off change in the foreign 

exchange rate by 1 % in a negative direction.

IR risk used stress scenario represents immediate one-off change of interest rates along the whole 

yield curve by 1 % in an unfavourable direction. The calculation of unfavorable impact on Group 

cash flows (due to an increase in interest expense or drop in interest received relating to financial 

assets and financial liabilities) is made each month on the floating basis within a time frame of 

12 months.

Hedging

The following nominal value of foreign exchange forwards was used by the Group to hedge the 

currency risk:

Nominal value 

In EUR million

Fair value 

In CZK million

2009 2008 2009 2008

Forward exchange contracts 171 19 105 16
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Deferred income taxes16)	

Deferred income taxes are calculated using currently enacted tax rates expected to apply when 

the asset is realized or the liability settled.

Short-term deferred taxes were calculated at 19 % (20 % in 2008) and long-term deferred taxes 

were calculated at 19 % (2008:19 %).

In CZK million 2009 2008

At 1 January 3,300 3,353

Income statement tax charge / (credit) (Note 5) 33 (57)

Tax impact on changes in equity – 4

At 31 December 3,333 3,300

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right 

to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes 

relate to the same fiscal authority.

The following amounts, determined after offsetting, are shown in the consolidated balance 

sheet:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Deferred tax assets (318) (656)

Deferred tax liabilities 3,651 3,956

Total 3,333 3,300

The deferred tax asset includes CZK 291 million (2008: CZK 423 million) recoverable in less than 

twelve months and CZK 27 million (2008: CZK 233 million) recoverable after more than twelve 

months. The deferred tax liability includes CZK 380 million (2008: CZK 494 million) payable in less 

than twelve months and CZK 3,271 million (2008: CZK 3,462 million) payable in more than twelve 

months.

The deferred tax is determined by these components:

In CZK million

Consolidated 

balance sheet

Consolidated 

statement of 

comprehensive 

income

2009 2008 2009 2008

Temporary differences relating to:

– property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 3,623 3,926 (303) (570)

– trade receivables, inventories and other differences (290) (626) 336 513

Total 3,333 3,300 33 (57)

Deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly to equity are as follows:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Revaluation of cash flow hedges – 4
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Government social security and pension schemes17)	

The Group is legally required to make contributions to government health, retirement benefit 

and unemployment schemes. During 2009 and 2008, the Group paid contributions at a rate 

of 34 %, 35 % respectively of gross salaries and is not required to make any contributions in 

excess of this statutory rate. The total amount charged to operating expenses in respect of this 

scheme was CZK 1,642 million in 2009 (2008: CZK 1,626 million) (Note 3). Employees contribute 

11 % (2008: 12.5 %) of their gross salaries.

The Group has a voluntary pension plan for employees under which the Group makes 

contributions on behalf of the Group’s employees to approved pension plan providers, under 

defined contribution schemes. The Group’s contribution depends upon the number of employees 

joining the scheme and their age profile. During the year the Group made contributions of 

CZK 57 million (2008: CZK 59 million). These contributions were charged as an operating expense.

In accordance with an annually renegotiated collective labour agreement, the Company 

is required to pay CZK 25,000 or CZK 90,000 on retirement depending on the length 

of the employee’s service, who have completed not less than five years continuous service. These 

benefits are restricted to those employees who retire during the period for which the labour 

agreement is in place. The Company is not under any legal or constructive obligation to continue 

providing such benefits beyond the period of such agreement and therefore, no provisions 

beyond the period of the agreement are recognised in the financial statements. Payments 

made during the year 2009 relating to employee retirement amounted to CZK 0.1 million 

(2008: CZK 0.1 million) and were charged as an operating expense.

All amounts discussed in the above note are included in staff costs (see Note 3).

Provisions for liabilities and charges18)	

In CZK million

Regulatory 

and court 

decisions

Employee 

redundancy 

costs

Employee 

related 

costs

Benefit 

loyalty 

provision

Sale of real 

estate portfolio 

provision Other Total

At 1 January 2009 395 13 142 252 260 26 1,088

Additions during the year 22 58 126 32 68 8 314

Utilised during the year (380) (60) (162) (284) (189) (15) (1,090)

At 31 December 2009 37 11 106 – 139 19 312

Short-term Provisions 2009 21 11 98 – 139 19 288

Long-term Provisions 2009 16 – 8 – – – 24

37 11 106 – 139 19 312

Short-term Provisions 2008 – 13 134 252 260 26 685

Long-term Provisions 2008 395 – 8 – – – 403

395 13 142 252 260 26 1,088

With the exception of the regulatory and court decisions and other small items for which 

the expected timing of payments is not certain all other provisions are expected to be utilised 

within the next twelve months from the balance sheet date.
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Benefit loyalty provision

Benefit loyalty provision was used to cover the cost of equipment, accessories, gifts and services 

provided to participants in the mobile segment’s loyalty program in exchange for credits 

awarded primarily for airtime minutes spent. The provision used to be recognized based on past 

experience of the usage of these credits by loyalty program participants.

Benefit loyalty provision was released due to termination of customer loyalty program 

in year 2009. There is zero expected outflow of provided benefits. The Group replaced customer 

loyalty program with other non-cash incentives such as discounts and marketing activities.

Sale of real estate portfolio

The provision was established to cover primarily the costs of future claims relating to the 

construction deficiencies identified in the real estate portfolio sold (see Note 8).

Regulatory and court decisions

Provision for regulatory and court decisions is made for legal proceedings involving the Group 

companies (see Note 20).

Financial instruments19)	

Net fair values of derivative financial instruments

At the balance sheet date, the total net fair values of derivative financial instruments were as 

follows:

Forward foreign exchange contracts  

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Instruments not qualifying as hedges

– with positive fair value 108 23

– with negative fair value (3) (7)

Total (Note 15) 105 16

Contingencies20)	

The Company is involved in several court proceedings which have arisen from the ordinary course 

of business. Several significant litigations opened in previous years were successfully terminated 

in 2009 and are listed below, along with other notable legal matters involving the Company:

T-Mobile Czech Republic, a.s. – interconnect litigations

On 29 April 2009, the Company entered into a settlement agreement, whereby all disputes 

of many years’ standing between the Company and T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s. relating to 

interconnection of public telecommunications networks in 2001 were amicably settled. Based on 

this agreement, T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s. paid to the Company a sum of CZK 1,053 million. 

Consequently, both parties cancelled all proceedings relating to the 2001 interconnection 

disputes.
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Vodafone Czech Republic, a.s. – interconnect litigations

I. On 30 June 2005, Vodafone Czech Republic, a.s. (former Český Mobil/Oskar Mobil) brought 

a petition with the Municipal Court in Prague against the Company for damages in the 

amount of CZK 538 million with appurtenances and for returning the unjustified enrichment 

of CZK 117 million with appurtenances. The petition claims that the Company allegedly failed 

to transmit the traffic to networks operated by other mobile operators according to respective 

interconnection agreements.

The High Court in Prague confirmed the Company’s conclusion that CTO already issued the 

final decision in favour of the Company and that Vodafone Czech Republic, a.s. was trying to 

evade this final decision. The Municipal Court in Prague therefore terminated the legal action in 

September 2008. The High Court in Prague partially confirmed the decision, and the remaining 

part was dismissed by the Municipal Court in Prague’s resolution of 30 September 2009 as 

unjustified. Based on the progress to date, the Company believes that the High Court will confirm 

the positive resolution in the appellate proceedings.

II. In May 2004, Vodafone Czech Republic, a.s. filed a petition against Eurotel Praha, spol. s r.o for 

damages in the amount of CZK 1,043 million due to an alleged breach of the Competition 

Protection Act. The decision rendered by the Office for the Protection of Competition, which 

Vodafone Czech Republic a.s. based the proceedings on, was overruled by the finding of 

the Constitutional Court on 11 July 2007. The Municipal Court in Prague fully dismissed the 

unfounded petition on 21 August 2008 as unjustified. The decision was unsuccessfully appealed 

by Vodafone Czech Republic, a.s. with the High Court in Prague, which finally confirmed by 

resolution of 6 October 2009 that the petition dismissal was correct.

The Company management considers disclosure of further information on these disputes 

inappropriate, as it could prejudice the Company’s position in these disputes. The Company 

management is convinced that all risks relating to the litigations are adequately reflected in the 

financial statements.

The Office for the Protection of Competition 

I. The Company was subject to administrative proceeding before the Office for the Protection of 

Competition (UOHS) relating to the alleged abuse of the dominant position by creating unfair 

barriers on the market by offering certain price plans for residential customers. With a resolution 

of 20 April 2005, UOHS imposed a fine on the Company in the total amount of CZK 210 million, 

which was, after the Company’s appeal, consequently reduced to CZK 205 million. After dismissal 

of a petition and cassation complaint by administrative courts, the Company filed a constitutional 

complaint with the Constitutional Court in 2009.

The Company management considers disclosure of further information on these disputes 

inappropriate, as it could prejudice the Company’s position in these disputes. The Company 

management is convinced that all risks relating to the litigation are adequately reflected in the 

financial statements.

Other legal matters

I. The dispute with TELE 2 was also closed in 2009. TELE 2 s.r.o. sued the Company on 

3 February 2005 for an alleged breach of the Competition Protection Act due to offering 

certain pricing plans from September 2002 until December 2004. The amount of the claim was 

CZK 2,142 million – with appurtenances. During the course of the proceedings, TELE 2 s.r.o. was 

succeeded in the role of the plaintiff by TELE 2 EUROPE S.A. The Company provided to the court 

an extensive defence along with proposed items of evidence proving the legal imperfectness 
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of the sued case. The Company management adequately reflected the matter in the financial 

statements. Eventually, the Company and TELE 2 EUROPE S.A. agreed on settlement and 

terminated their dispute in the Czech Republic. As a result of this settlement there is no longer 

any risk for the Company with respect to the amount of CZK 2,142 million originally claimed 

by TELE 2 in 2005. The legal action was withdrawn. The proceeding was finally terminated in 

July 2009.

Other confidential information may not be disclosed to the public. The Company is bound by 

confidentiality agreement and has no intent to harm either party’s interests by any comments.

II. The Company was sued by AUGUSTUS spol. s r.o. for an alleged loss of profit in the principal 

amount of approximately CZK 183 million with appurtenances relating to the years 1995–2001. 

AUGUSTUS spol. s r.o. claims that the Company illegitimately cancelled a contract for issue of 

phone cards, which was entered into for an unlimited period of time. Based on court decision, 

the Company paid an amount of CZK 83 million and the corresponding interest in August 2006 

(in total approximately CZK 139 million). Both parties subsequently filed an extraordinary appeal 

against the court judgment. Based on the Company’s extraordinary appeal, the Supreme Court 

annulled all previous judgements in June 2009. The Municipal Court in Prague shall deal with the 

petition again.

III. Subsequently AUGUSTUS spol. s r.o. filed another petition against the Company regarding the 

amount of approximately CZK 294 million (status in April 2008). The petition is based again on 

the contract on phone cards issuing between Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, a.s. and AUGUSTUS 

spol. s r.o. that was terminated 13 years ago. AUGUSTUS spol. s r.o. brings up a number of new 

requirements in the petition that are not underpinned by law or contradict each other. It is not 

even possible to sum up individual claims in the petition to be able to specify the total amount. 

Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, a.s. takes all steps in the lawsuit to defend thoroughly against 

this unlawful claim and believes in success in this lawsuit. However, with respect to the claimed 

amount the Company informs about this proceeding.

Considering the judgement of the Supreme Court and the progress in the matter, the Company 

management believes that it is not necessary to create or maintain any reserves regarding these 

disputes.

IV. The Company is a party to other litigations. The total amount of all cases, the individual 

amount of which exceeds CZK 5 million, totals to CZK 233 million. Even minor litigations are 

reflected in the financial statement, however, risks relating to these litigations are immaterial. 

Commitments21)	

Operating leases

The aggregate future minimum lease payments under operating leases are as follows:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

No later than 1 year 1,453 1,451

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 4,900 4,524

Later than 5 years 4,747 6,067

Total 11,100 12,042
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The total lease payments relating to operating leasing of property, plant and equipment 

recognised as an expense in 2009 were CZK 1,496 million (2008: CZK 1,320 million). These lease 

agreements may contain clauses requiring restoration of the leased site at the end of the lease 

term. At present, such costs do not have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated results of 

operations, financial position, or cash flow and therefore are not accounted for.

In 2004 the Group entered into a sale and lease back transaction and now leases the majority 

of its car fleet under operating leases. There are no contingent rent obligations. The lease 

arrangements include an option to renew the lease after the initial period. Lease payments are 

fixed and determinable, however they may be increased to reflect inflation and other market 

conditions such as interest rates changes (e.g. an increase in PRIBOR by more than 2 % over a half 

year). There are no significant restrictions imposed by these lease arrangements, such as those 

concerning dividends, additional debt and further leasing. Total future lease payments relating to 

this contract in 2009 were CZK 371 million (2008: CZK 395 million).

Capital and other commitments

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Capital and other expenditure contracted but not 

provided for in the financial statements 5,422 646

The majority of contracted amounts relate to the telecommunications network and service 

contracts.

Service concession arrangements22)	

The Company performs communication activities as defined under the Act on Electronic 

Communications based on a notification and a certificate from the Czech Telecommunication 

Office num. 516 as amended by later changes num. 516/1, 516/2 and 516/3.

The communication activities include (territory of the Czech Republic):

public fixed network of electronic communications,a)	

public mobile network of electronic communications,b)	

public network for the transfer of radio and TV signal,c)	

public fixed telephone network, d)	

public mobile telephone network,e)	

publicly accessible telephone services,f)	

other voice services – service is provided as publicly available,g)	

rent of circuits – service is provided as publicly available,h)	

transmission of radio and TV signal – service is provided as publicly available,i)	

transfers of data – service is provided as publicly available,j)	

internet access services – service is provided as publicly available,k)	

other voice services – service is not provided as publicly available,l)	

rent of circuits – service is not provided as publicly available,m)	

transmission of radio and TV signal – service is not provided as publicly available,n)	

transfers of data – service is not provided as publicly available,o)	

internet access services – service is not provided as publicly available.p)	
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The Company provides mobile services of electronic communications in the 900 and 1800 MHz 

frequency bands under the Global System for Mobile Communication (“GSM”) standard on the 

basis of radio frequency assignment from CTO valid until 7 February 2016, in the 2100 MHz 

frequency band under the Universal Mobile Telecommunications System (“UMTS”) standard on 

the basis of radio frequency assignment from CTO valid until 1 January 2022 and in the 450 MHz 

frequency band using technology CDMA2000 (Code Division Multiple Access – “CDMA”), where 

on the basis of radio frequency assignment from CTO valid until 7 February 2011 is provided 

broadband mobile access to Internet.

Validity of radio frequency assignment is possible to prolong for next period on the basis 

of application submitted to CTO in accordance with the Act on Electronic Communications. 

Relative to the current regulatory and business environment in the Czech Republic, contractual, 

legal, regulatory, competitive or other economic factors may limit the period during which the 

Company can benefit from the use of these radio frequency assignments in the future.

No additional expenses or any limitations connected with renewal of the radio frequency 

assignments are expected in accordance with the existing interpretation of regulatory provisions.

Provision of electronic communications services in Slovakia

In 2006 Telefónica O2 Slovakia was granted a licence for providing of electronic communications 

services by the means of the public electronic communications network – GSM and UMTS mobile 

telephone network within the area of the Slovak Republic. The licence has been granted for 

20 years, i.e. until 2026. Validity of the licence is possible to prolong for next period on the basis 

of application submitted to the Telecommunication Office of the Slovak Republic.

The following obligations were part of the licence:

putting into operation the 800 GSM base stations and to cover 45 % of population by the own a)	

network,

launch services in respect of welcome melodies and lease of phones.b)	

These obligations were fulfilled in year 2008.

Imposition of obligations related to provision of universal service 

During the year 2009 and 2008, the Company provided the following selective services under CTO 

imposed obligations to provide universal service:

public pay telephones services,a)	

access for disabled to the public telephone,b)	

supplementary services to service of connection at a fixed location to the public telephone c)	

network and the service of access to publicly available telephone services at a fixed location:

phased payment of the price for the establishment of connection to the public telephone ——

network for consumer,

free selective barring of outgoing calls for the subscribers, and——

free itemised billing of the price for consumer*,——

special price schemes, which are different from the price schemes used under normal business d)	

conditions, for low income persons, persons with special social needs and disabled persons.

*	S ervices listed under letter c) above are excluded from the universal service regime on the basis of CTO decision 

since 30th of July 2009. Providing of these services continues in commercial regime out of universal service.
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Share capital and reserves23)	

31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Nominal value per ordinary bearer share (CZK) 100 100

Number of shares 322,089,890 322,089,890

Nominal value per ordinary registered share (CZK)* 1,000 1,000

Number of shares* 1 1

Ordinary shares (in CZK million) 32,209 32,209

*	 One share owned by the National Property Fund of the Czech Republic bore special decision-making rights 

in accordance with the statutes of the Company. These special rights included namely decisions regarding 

the liquidation of the Company, changes in its activities, sale or lease of the Company or of its assets. This share 

was assigned to Telefónica, S.A. within the transferred 51.1 % stake in the Company. From this date, the share has 

not borne special decision-making rights.

Shareholdings in the Company were as follows:

31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Telefónica, S.A. 69.41 % 69.41 %

Other shareholders 30.59 % 30.59 %

Funds include a statutory reserve fund of CZK 6,442 million (2008: CZK 6,442 million) that is 

not distributable under ruling legislation. Equity settled share based payments reserve is not 

distributable.

On 21 April 2008 the Annual General Shareholders Meeting approved the restructuring of equity 

in the form of transfer of CZK 6,442 million from share premium to statutory reserve fund. 

Further the opening balance of the statutory reserve fund of CZK 6,442 million was transferred to 

retained earnings and used for distribution of dividend.

Capital management

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

The Company’s objectives when managing its capital are:

to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can provide value a)	

for its shareholders, and

comply with all relevant legal requirements.b)	

The investment strategy in the light of managing capital of the Company is to direct investment 

activities in pro-growth areas, i.e. fixed and mobile broadband internet, IPTV, mobile services, 

public administration, corporate ICT solutions and in the expansion of the mobile services in 

Slovakia.

At present, the approach that the Company follows is not to retain surplus cash. In the following 

periods, the Board of Directors will continue to evaluate and carry out an in-depth analysis 

of the current and anticipated results of the Company, including scheduled and potential 

investments and cash flow generation and will establish the most adequate capital structure for 

accomplishment of the plans.

There is no other specific objective.
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No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 2009 and 2008.

The equity breakdown used in the capital management is following:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Capital 73,841 78,121

Equity settled share based payment reserve 38 47

Total 73,879 78,168

Hedging reserve25)	

In CZK million

Balance at 1 January 2008 (20)

Fair value gains in period 24

Fair value losses transfer to net profit (4)

Balance at 31 December 2008 –

Fair value losses in period –

Fair value losses transfer to net profit –

Balance at 31 December 2009 –

Related party transactions 25)	

The Group provides services to all related parties on normal commercial terms. Sales and purchase 

transactions with related parties are based on contractual agreements negotiated on normal 

commercial terms and conditions and at market prices. Outstanding balances of assets and 

liabilities are unsecured, interest free (excl. financial assets and liabilities used for financing) and 

the settlement occurs either in cash or by offsetting. The financial assets balances are tested for 

the impairment at the balance sheet date, and no allowance or write off was incurred.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

I. Parent company:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Dividend paid to Telefónica, S.A. 11,179 11,179

Royalty fees (Telefónica, S.A.) 754 626
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II. Other related parties – Telefónica Group:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

a) Sales of services and goods 1,058 704

b) Purchases of services and goods 566 597

c) Capital purchases 54 5

d) Receivables 581 111

e) Payables 874 4,011

f) Short-term receivables (interest) – 14

g) Interest income 149 374

h) Interest expense 41 92

j) Cash equivalents (Note 13) 1,100 6,344

As at 31 December 2008 the payables included a loan in amount of CZK 3,194 million provided 

to Telefónica O2 Slovakia by the company Telfisa Global, BV. The loan beared a floating 

interest based on 1M BRIBOR. In 2009 the total interest expense was CZK 31 million (2008: 

CZK 91 million). The loans conditions were based on the arm’s length principle. The loan was 

repaid in July 2009 together with related interests.

The list of the Telefónica companies with which the Company had any transaction in 2009 includes 

the following entities: Telefónica S.A., Telefónica de España, S.A.U., Telefónica O2 Germany 

GmbH& CO.OHG, Telefónica O2 UK Ltd., Telefónica O2 Ireland Ltd., Telefónica Móviles España, 

S.A.U., Telefónica Móviles Argentina, S.A., Pléyade Peninsular, O2 Holdings Ltd., Manx Telecom 

Ltd., Telefónica Móviles Guatemala, S.A., Telefónica Móviles El Salvador, S.A. de C.V., Telefónica 

Móviles Panamá, S.A., Telefónica Móviles Chile, S.A., Otecel, S.A., Telefónica Móviles Nicaragua, S.A., 

Telefónica Móviles Columbia, S.A., Telefónica S. de Informática y Comunicaciones de España, S.A.U., 

Telefónica Investigación y Desrrollo, S.A., Portugal Telecom, S.G.P.S., S.A., Telecom Italia S.p.A., 

Telfisa Global, BV., Telefónica Finanzas, S.A., Telefónica International Wholesale Services, Telefónica 

International Wholesale Services II, S.L., Telefónica Gestión de Servicios Compartidos, S.A., 

Telefónica Factoring E.F.C., S.A., Atento Chequia, Telefónica Compras Electrónica, S.L., Telefónica 

Móviles Mexico, S.A, Telefónica Móviles del Uruguay, S.A, Telefónica Móviles Peru, S.A, Telefónica 

Venezuela, S.A., China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited, Telefónica O2 Business Solutions, spol. s r.o., 

CZECH TELECOM Germany GmbH, CZECH TELECOM Austria GmbH, Telefónica O2 Slovakia.

III. Other related parties 

a) Key management compensation

Members of the Board of Directors and of the Supervisory Board of the Telefónica O2 Czech 

Republic, a.s. were provided with benefits as follows:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Salaries and other short-term benefits 122 123

Personal indemnification insurance 5 7

Total 127 130

b) Loans to related parties

There were no loans provided to members of Board of Directors and Supervisory Board in 2009 

and 2008.

No other loan was provided to related parties by the Group.
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Principal subsidiary undertakings26)	

Group’s 

interest

Cost of 

investment 

In CZK million

Country of 

incorporation

Activity

Subsidiaries

1. Telefónica O2 Business Solutions, 

spol. s r.o. (formerly Telefónica O2 

Services, spol. s r.o., merged with 

DELTAX Systems a.s.)

100 % 237 Czech Republic Network and consultancy 

services in telecommunications,  

IT/ICT services

2. CZECH TELECOM Germany GmbH 100 % 13 Germany Data transmission services

3. CZECH TELECOM Austria GmbH 100 % 11 Austria Data transmission services

4. Telefónica O2 Slovakia, s.r.o. 100 % 5,081 Slovakia Mobile telephony, internet and 

data transmission services

Associates

5. První certifikační autorita, a.s. 23 % 9 Czech Republic Rendering of certification services

6. AUGUSTUS, spol. s r.o. 40 % – Czech Republic Sales by auctions and advisory 

services

During the fourth quarter of 2007, SPT TELECOM (Czech Republic) Finance B.V. in liquidation 

commenced preparatory steps for the process of voluntary liquidation. Until the end of 2008, 

the key legal steps for dissolution of the company have been executed. The cancellation of the 

registration from the Commercial Register was performed as of 9 February 2009.

In December 2008, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the plan to merge Telefónica 

O2 Business Solutions, spol. s r.o. with DELTAX Systems a.s. This merger became effective 

1 January 2009 after the fulfillment of all legal conditions performed in the half of 2009. 

Telefónica O2 Business Solutions, spol. s r.o. became the legal successor while DELTAX Systems a.s. 

was dissolved without liquidation. The assets, rights and obligations including labour rights and 

duties were transferred to the successor.

In June 2009, the Board of Directors approved increase of the registered capital of Telefónica O2 

Slovakia by a monetary investment in the amount of EUR 150 million from the amount of the 

registered capital of EUR 50 million to the amount of the registered capital of EUR 200 million. 

Effective date of increase of the registered capital was 19 August 2009.

The Company has an intention to further increase the registered capital of Telefónica O2 Slovakia 

by estimated amount of EUR 40 million during 2010.

Post balance sheet events27)	

As of 1st February 2010, Chief Executive Officer Salvador Anglada Gonzales was transferred to 

Telefónica S.A. in Madrid. Luis Antonio Malvido was appointed as a new Chief Executive Officer.

There were no other events, which have occurred subsequent to the year-end, which would have 

a material impact on the financial statements at 31 December 2009.
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General information

Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, a.s. (the “Company”) has a form of a joint stock company and 

is incorporated and domiciled in the Czech Republic. The address of its registered office is 

Za Brumlovkou 266/2, Prague 4, 140 22, Czech Republic.

The Company is a member of the Telefónica Group of companies (the “Telefónica Group”) with 

a parent company, Telefónica, S.A. (the “Telefónica”).

The Company is the principal supplier of fixed line telecommunication services and is one of the 

four suppliers of mobile telephone services in the Czech Republic.

The number of employees employed with the Company amounted in average to 8,282 in 2009 

(2008: 8,542).

The Company’s shares are traded on the Prague Stock Exchange and London Stock Exchange 

(GDRs).

These financial statements were approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors 

on 19 February 2010.

Merger of DELTAX Systems a.s. with Telefónica O2 Business Solutions, spol. s r.o.

In December 2008, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the plan to merge Telefónica 

O2 Business Solutions, spol. s r.o. with DELTAX Systems a.s. This merger became effective as at 

1 January 2009 after the fulfillment of all legal conditions performed in the year 2009. Telefónica 

O2 Business Solutions, spol. s r.o. became the legal successor while DELTAX Systems a.s. was 

dissolved without liquidation. The assets, rights and obligations including labour rights and duties 

were transferred to the successor.

Liquidation of subsidiary SPT TELECOM (Czech Republic) Finance B.V. in liquidation

During the fourth quarter of 2007, SPT TELECOM (Czech Republic) Finance B.V. in liquidation 

commenced preparatory steps for the process of voluntary liquidation. Until the end of 2008, the 

key legal steps for dissolution of the Company have been executed. As of 9 February 2009, the 

registration of the company was cancelled from the Commercial Register.
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Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, a.s.:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, a.s. 

(“the Company”), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2009 and the statement 

of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year 

then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 

the European Union. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining 

internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 

appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable 

in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 

audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and 

implementation guidance of the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic. Those standards 

require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 

of the Company as of 31 December 2009, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 

by the European Union.

Ernst & Young Audit, s.r.o.	 Brian Welsh	 Radek Pav	 19 February 2010

Licence No. 401	 Partner	 Auditor, 	 Prague,

Represented by		  Licence No. 2042	 Czech Republic
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Statement of comprehensive income 

For the year ended 31 December 2009

In CZK million Notes

Year ended  

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Revenue 2 58,054 63,613

Gains from sale of non-current assets 8 422 855

Internal expenses capitalized in fixed assets 2 660 341

Operating expenses 3 (31,661) (35,232)

Impairment loss 8, 9,10 (23) (85)

Depreciation and amortisation 8, 9 (11,688) (12,714)

Operating profit 15,764 16,778

Interest income 4 165 446

Interest expense 4 (229) (313)

Other finance (expense) 4 (89) (121)

Profit before income tax 15,611 16,790

Taxes on income 5 (3,197) (3,697)

Profit for the year 12,414 13,093

Other comprehensive income

Gains proceeding from cash flow hedges – 24

Income tax effect – (4)

Total comprehensive income, net of tax 12,414 13,113

Profit attributable to: 

Equity holders of the Parent 12,414 13,093

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent 12,414 13,113

Earnings per share (CZK) – basic* 6 39 41

*	 There is no dilution of earnings as no convertible instruments have been issued by the Company.
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Balance sheet 

As at 31 December 2009

In CZK million Notes 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 8 55,186 61,198

Intangible assets 9 21,677 21,702

Investment in subsidiaries and associates 26 5,351 1,507

Other financial assets 12 1,311 377

Non-current assets 83,525 84,784

Inventories 11 585 743

Receivables and prepayments 12 9,140 9,248

Income tax receivable 694 225

Cash and cash equivalents 13 1,241 6,972

Current assets 11,660 17,188

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 8 95 96

Total assets 95,280 102,068

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Ordinary shares 23 32,209 32,209

Share premium 24,374 24,374

Retained earnings, funds and reserves 21,207 24,896

Total equity 77,790 81,479

Long-term financial debts 15 3,044 3,098

Deferred taxes 16 3,333 3,299

Non-current provisions for liabilities and charges 18 23 402

Non-current other liabilities 14 19 175

Non-current liabilities 6,419 6,974

Short-term financial debts 15 87 98

Trade and other payables 14 10,710 12,838

Provisions for liabilities and charges 18 274 679

Current liabilities 11,071 13,615

Total liabilities 17,490 20,589

Total equity and liabilities 95,280 102,068

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 19 February 2010 and 

were signed on its behalf by:

Jakub Chytil	 Jesús Pérez de Uriguen 

Member of the Board of Directors	 1st Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 

General Counsel and Company Secretary	 Vice President, Finance Division
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Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 

For the year ended 31 December 2009

In CZK million Notes

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Hedging 

reserve

Equity settled 

share based 

payments reserve Funds*

Retained 

earnings Total

At 1 January 2008 32,209 30,816 (20) – 6,450 14,970 84,425

Fair value gains (net of 

tax) – cash flow hedges 24 – – 20 – – – 20

Net profit – – – – – 13,093 13,093

Total comprehensive 

income – – 20 – – 13,093 13,113

Equity restructuring 23 – (6,442) – – 6,442 – –

Transfer from reserve 

fund to retained 

earnings 23 – – – – (6,442) 6,442 –

Capital contribution – – – 45 – – 45

Dividends declared in 

2008 7 – – – – – (16,104) (16,104)

At 31 December 2008 32,209 24,374 – 45 6,450 18,401 81,479

At 1 January 2009 32,209 24,374 – 45 6,450 18,401 81,479

Net profit – – – – – 12,414 12,414

Total comprehensive 

income – – – – – 12,414 12,414

Capital contribution 

and other transfers – – – (9) – 10 1

Dividends declared 

in 2009 7 – – – – – (16,104) (16,104)

At 31 December 2009 32,209 24,374 – 36 6,450 14,721 77,790

*	 Refer to Note 23 regarding amounts not available for distribution.
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Cashflow statement 

For the year ended 31 December 2009

In CZK million Notes

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Net profit 12,414 13,093

Non-cash adjustments for:

 Income tax 5 3,197 3,697

 Depreciation 8 9,758 10,838

 Amortisation 9 1,930 1,876

 Impairment loss 8, 9, 10 23 85

 Disposals of obsolete assets 3 109

 Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (476) (840)

 Net interest and other income (charges) 64 (133)

 Foreign exchange losses/(gains) (net) (195) 39

 Fair value changes (89) (15)

 Change in provisions and allowances (2,086) (781)

Operating cash flow before working capital changes 24,543 27,968

Working capital adjustments:

 Increase in trade and other receivables (394) (836)

 Decrease/(increase) in inventories 146 (279)

 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 444 (885)

Cash flows from operating activities 24,739 25,968

Interest paid (203) (392)

Interest received 169 367

Income tax paid (3,632) (4,833)

Net cash from operating activities 21,073 21,110

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,543) (4,070)

Purchase of intangible assets (2,216) (2,100)

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 891 4,585

Proceeds from marketable securities – 24

Cash purchase of financial investments (3,844) (30)

Dividends received 11 7

Grant of loan (1,011) (40)

Repayment of loan – 40

Net cash used in investing activities (10,712) (1,584)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings – 650

Repayment of borrowings (5) (6,645)

Dividends – paid (16,087) (16,080)

Net cash used in financing activities (16,092) (22,075)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,731) (2,549)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6,972 9,521

Cash and cash equivalents at the year end 13 1,241 6,972



TELEFÓNICA O2 CZECH REPUBLICAnnual Report 2009

Financial statements 167

Accounting policies

Index

A)	 Basis of preparation	 168

B)	 Foreign currencies	 172

C)	 Property, plant and equipment	 173

D)	 Intangible assets	 174

E)	 Non-current assets classified as held for sale	 175

F)	 Impairment of assets	 176

G)	 Investments and other financial assets	 176

H)	 Leases	 178

I)	 Inventories	 179

J)	 Trade receivables	 179

K)	 Cash and cash equivalents	 179

L)	 Financial debt	 179

M)	 Current and deferred income taxes	 180

N)	 Employee benefits	 181

O)	S hare-based compensation	 181

P)	 Provisions	 182

Q)	 Revenue recognition	 182

R)	D ividend distribution	 185

S)	 Financial instruments	 185

T)	 Critical accounting estimates and judgments	 188

U)	 Investments in subsidiary and associated undertakings	 190

V)	 Change in accounting policy	 191

W)	 Operating profit	 191



TELEFÓNICA O2 CZECH REPUBLICAnnual Report 2009

Financial statements 168

Basis of preparationA)	

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 

out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise 

stated.

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) and all applicable IFRSs adopted by the EU. IFRS comprise standards and 

interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).

Effective from 1 January 2005, a change in the Czech Act on Accounting No. 563/1991 Coll. 

requires the Company to prepare its financial statements in accordance with IFRS adopted by the 

EU (Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002). At the year-end, there is no difference in the policies applied 

by the Company between IFRS and IFRS adopted by the EU.

The financial statements are the separate financial statements of the Company and 

meet requirements of IFRS with respect to the preparation of parent’s separate financial 

statements. The Company also issued consolidated financial statements prepared for the same 

period in accordance with IFRS, which were approved for issue by the Board of Directors 

on 19 February 2010.

The financial statements were prepared under the historical cost convention except for 

non-current assets held for sale, inventory held at net realizable value, financial derivatives, share 

based payment liability and certain assets and liabilities acquired during business combinations, 

as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS required the Company to use 

certain critical accounting estimates. It also required management to exercise its judgement 

in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 

of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 

financial statements are disclosed in Note T.

The amounts shown in these financial statements are presented in millions Czech Crowns (“CZK”), 

if not stated otherwise.

Adoption of new or revised IFRS standards and interpretations (includes standards and 

interpretations applicable for the Company)

In 2009, the Company applied the below stated standards, interpretations and amendments, 

which are relevant to its operations. Adoption of the interpretations and amendments has no 

effect on the financial performance or position of the Company:

IFRS 2 Amendment (issued 2008, effective date 1 January 2009) Share-based Payments

The amendment clarifies the definition of a vesting condition and prescribes the treatment for an 

award that is cancelled. This amendment has no material impact on the Company’s financial 

statements.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (issued 2009, effective date 1 January 2009)
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The amendment requires additional disclosure about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. 

Fair value measurements related to items recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by source of 

inputs using a three level fair value hierarchy, by class, for all financial instruments recognised 

at fair value. The amendment also clarifies the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures with 

respect to derivative transactions and assets used for liquidity management.

This adoption affects certain disclosures in the notes to the Company financial statements.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments (issued 2006, effective date 1 January 2009)

The standard replaces IAS 14 Segment Reporting and requires entities to disclose segment 

information based on the information reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker. 

The adoption of the standard has no impact on the current presentation and disclosure of 

segment information.

IAS 1 Amendment (issued 2007, effective date 1 January 2009) Presentation of financial 

statements

The amendment to the standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. In addition, 

the Standard introduces a statement of comprehensive income: presenting all items of income 

and expense recognised in the income statement, together with all other items of recognised 

income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements. This revised 

standard has been adopted in the current financial period for the Company financial statements.

IAS 23 Amendment (issued 2007, effective date 1 January 2009) Borrowing Costs

The amendment requires the Company to capitalise borrowing costs that are directly attributable 

to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Since the Company has 

already applied this policy as an allowed alternative treatment before the effective date of this 

amendment, there is no impact on the financial position of the Company.

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, 

Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate – Amendments (issued 2008, effective date 1 January 2009)

IAS 27 is amended for the following changes in respect of the holding companies separate 

financial statements:

The deletion of the “cost method”. Making the distinction between pre- and post-acquisition i)	

profits is no longer required. All dividends are recognized in profit or loss. However, the 

payment of such dividends requires the entity to consider whether there is an indicator of 

impairment; and

In case of reorganisations where a new parent is inserted above an existing parent of the ii)	

group (subject to meeting specific requirements), the cost of the subsidiary is the previous 

carrying amount of its share of equity items in the subsidiary rather than its fair value.

There is no material effect relating to the adoption of these amendments on the Company 

financial statements.

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes (issued 2007, effective date 1 July 2008)
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This interpretation addresses the accounting by entities that provide their customers with 

incentives to buy goods or services by providing awards as part of the sale transaction. The 

interpretation requires the entity that grants the awards to account for the sales transaction 

that gives rise to the award credits as a multiple element transaction and allocate the fair value 

of the consideration received or receivable between the award credits granted and the other 

compoments of the revenue transaction.

This adoption affects current accounting policy in respect of change of the fair value awards 

measurement and change in the presentation in the financial statements. This also affects certain 

disclosures in the notes to the financial statements.

This adoption has not any material impact on the financial results in the year 2009.

Standards and interpretations issued and endorsed by the European Union but not early adopted 

by the Company (includes standards and interpretations applicable for the Company)

Revised IFRS 3 Business Combinations (issued 2008, effective date 1 July 2009)

The standard introduces changes in the accounting for business combination that will have 

an impact on the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that 

an acquisition occurs and on future reported results. The Company is currently assessing the 

impact of the application of this standard. The Company will apply IFRS 3 (Revised) prospectively 

to all business combinations from 1 January 2010.

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Amendment (issued 2008, effective date 

1 July 2009)

The most significant changes to IAS 27 are as follows:

Changes in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (that do not result in a loss of control) are i)	

accounted for as an equity transaction and have no impact on goodwill nor give rise to a gain 

or loss.

Losses incurred by the subsidiary are allocated between the controlling and non-controlling ii)	

interests (previously referred to as “minority interest”); even if the losses exceed the 

non-controlling equity investment in a subsidiary.

On loss of control of a subsidiary, any retained interest is remeasured to fair value and this has iii)	

impact on the gain or loss recognized on disposal.

There is not any material effect expected relating to the adoption of this amendment on the 

Company financial statements.

Standards and interpretations issued but not endorsed by the European Union and neither early 

adopted by the Company nor effective (includes standards and interpretations applicable for the 

Company)

IFRS 2 Amendment (issued 2009, effective date 1 January 2010) Share-based Payments

The amendment is concerning the accounting for group cash-settled share-based payment 

transactions. The amendment clarifies how an individual subsidiary in a group should account for 

some share-based payment arrangements in its own financial statements. In these arrangements, 

the subsidiary receives goods or services from employees or suppliers but its parent or another 

entity in the group must pay those suppliers.



TELEFÓNICA O2 CZECH REPUBLICAnnual Report 2009

Financial statements 171

This amendment will not have any material impact on the Company financial statements.

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers (issued 2009, effective 1 July 2009)

This interpretation provides guidance on how to account for items of property, plant, and 

equipment received from customers, or cash that is received and used to acquire or construct 

specific assets. This interpretation is only applicable to such assets that are used to connect the 

customer to a network or to provide ongoing access to a supply of goods or services or both.

The Company has assessed the impact of the application of this interpretation, there will be no 

impact on the financial statements.

IFRS 5 Amendment (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 

Discontinued Operations – Disclosure

This amendment was issued in order to clarify the disclosure requirments in respect of 

non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations. Also 

clarifies that the general requirements of IAS 1 still apply.

The Company does not expect any material changes to the disclosure in the notes to the financial 

statements.

IFRS 8 Amendment (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Operating Segments – Disclosure

Minor textual amendment to the standard and amendment to the basis for conclusions, to clarify 

that an entity is required to disclose a measure of segment assets only if that measure is regularly 

reported to the chief operating decision-maker.

The Company does not expect any material changes to the disclosure in the notes to the finacial 

statements resulting from this amendment.

IAS 1 Amendment (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendment specifies current / non-current classification of convertible instruments and 

clarifies that the potential settlement of a liability by the issue of equity is not relevant to its 

classification as current or non-current. By amending the definition of current liability, the 

amendment permits a liability to be classified as non-current (provided that the entity has an 

unconditional right to defer settlement by transfer of cash or other assets for at least 12 months 

after the accounting period) notwithstanding the fact that the entity could be required by the 

counterparty to settle in shares at any time.

This amendment will not have any material impact on the Company financial statements.

IAS 7 Amendment (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Statement of Cash Flows

Amendment to require that only expenditures that result in a recognized asset in the statement 

of financial position can be classified as investing activities. This amendment will have no impact 

on the Company financial statements, since this treatment is already applied by the Company.

IAS 36 Amendment (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Impairment of Assets
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Amendment to clarify that the largest cash-generating unit (or groups of units) to which goodwill 

should be allocated for the purposes of impairment testing is an operating segment as defined 

by par. 5 of IFRS 8 Operating Segments. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the 

application of this amendment on the financial statements.

IAS 38 Amendments (issued 2009, effective 1 January 2010) Intangible Assets

The first amendment clarifies the effect of the decision in IFRS 3 (Revised) on the accounting for 

intangible assets acquired in a business combination.

The second amendment clarifies the description in IAS 38, 40 and 41 of valuation techniques 

commonly used by entities when measuring the fair value of intangible assets acquired in 

a business combination that are not traded in active markets.

The Company is currently assessing the impact of these amendments. The Company will apply 

IAS 38 Amendments together with IFRS 3 (Revised) prospectively to all business combination from 

1 January 2010.

IFRS 5 Amendment (issued 2008, effective 1 July 2009) Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 

Discontinued Operations

The amendment clarifies that all of subsidiary’s assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale 

if a partial disposal sale plan results in loss of control. Relevant disclosure should be made for this 

subsidiary if the definition of a discontinued operation is met. A consequential amendments to 

IFRS 1 states that these amendments are applied prospectively from the date of transition to IFRS.

The Company will apply the IFRS 5 (Amendment) prospectively to all partial disposals of 

subsidiaries from 1 January 2010.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (issued in 2009, effective date 1 January 2013)

This standard specifies classification and measurements of finacial assets. 

The Company is currently assessing the impact of standard. The Company will apply IFRS 9 from 

1 January 2013.

Foreign currenciesB)	

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the Company operates (“the functional currency”). The 

financial statements are presented in Czech Crowns (“CZK”), which is the Company’s functional 

and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 

rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 

the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, 
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except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges. Such balances of monetary 

items are translated at period-end exchange rates. Non-monetary items that are measured in 

terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date 

of the transaction. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Property, plant and equipmentC)	

All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost and, except for freehold land, are 

subsequently carried at its cost less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses. Freehold land is subsequently stated at cost less impairment charges.

Property, plant and equipment acquired in business combinations are stated at their acquisition 

costs (which are equal to their fair value at the date of acquisition) less depreciation and 

impairment charges.

Property, plant and equipment include all costs directly attributable to bringing the asset 

to working condition for its intended use. With respect to the construction of the network, 

this comprises every expenditure up to the customers’ premises, including the cost of contractors, 

materials, direct labour costs and interest cost incurred during the course of construction.

Subsequent cost are recognised as property, plant and equipment only if it is probable that 

future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost can be 

measured reliably. Subsequent costs are recognised as decrease of accumulated depreciation if 

only useful life is extended.

Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Items of property, plant and equipment that are retired are not intended for sale and are not 

expected to create any future economic benefits or are otherwise disposed of, are eliminated 

from the balance sheet, along with the corresponding accumulated depreciation. Any gain or loss 

arising from retirement or disposal is included in net operating income, i.e. net gain or loss is 

determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount 

of the item.

Items of property, plant and equipment, excluding freehold land, are depreciated from the time 

they are available for use, using the straight-line method. Depreciation ceases at the earlier of 

the date the asset is de-recognised or the date the asset is classified as held for sale.

Depreciation does not cease, when the asset becomes temporarily idle or retired from active use, 

unless the asset is fully depreciated.
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Estimated useful lives adopted in these financial statements are as follows:

Years

Freehold buildings up to 40

Cable and other related plant 5 to 25

Exchanges and related equipment up to 10 

Other fixed assets 2 to 10

Freehold land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if 

the asset’s carrying amount is greater then its estimated recoverable amount (refer to Note F 

Impairment of assets).

Intangible assetsD)	

Intangible assets include computer software, purchased goodwill, licenses, trade names, customer 

base and roaming contracts. Computer software mainly represents the external acquisition costs 

of the Company’s information systems that are intended for use within the Company. Generally, 

costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as 

an expense as incurred. However, costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique 

software products controlled by the Company and that have a probable economic benefit 

exceeding the cost beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Computer software costs 

recognised as assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives, generally 

one to five years.

Intangible assets acquired in business combinations are stated at their acquisition costs (which are 

equal to their fair value at the date of acquisition) less amortisation and impairment charges 

and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Customer bases are 

amortised over a period of the remaining average terms of the binding contracts.

Acquired licenses are recorded at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining 

life of the license (i.e. over 15 to 20 years), from the start of commercial service, which best 

reflects the pattern by which the economic benefits of the intangible assets will be utilised by the 

Company.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. They are subject to the regular 

impairment reviews (see Note 9 and Note10).

Goodwill, arising from the purchase of subsidiary undertakings and interests in associates 

and joint ventures, represents the excess of the fair value of the purchase consideration 

over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for 

impairment at least annually or anytime there are indications of a decrease in its value.
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The Company reviews at least at the balance sheet date the useful lives of intangible assets 

that are not amortised to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support 

an indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life 

assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

On the balance sheet date, carrying amounts, residual values and the useful lives of assets 

are reviewed, revised and if necessary prospectively amended and accounted for as a change 

in an accounting estimate.

Intangible assets that are no longer in use and no future economic benefits are expected or that 

are disposed of for any other reason are de-recognised from the balance sheet together with the 

corresponding accumulated amortisation (for amortised assets only). All gains or losses arising 

in this respect are recognised in net operating income, i.e. net gain or loss is determined as the 

difference between net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset.

Intangible assets, with the exception of assets with an indefinite useful life, are amortised 

using the straight-line method from the time they are available for use. Amortisation ceases 

at the earlier of the date the asset is de-recognised, the date the asset is classified as having 

the indefinite useful life or the date the asset is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets classified as held for saleE)	

The Company classifies separately in the balance sheet a non-current asset (or disposal group) as 

held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather 

than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset (or disposal group) is available for 

immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for 

sales of such assets (or disposal groups), its sale is highly probable and sale is expected within one 

year.

The Company measures a non-current asset (or disposal group) classified as held for sale at the 

lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The Company recognizes an impairment loss for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset 

(or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell and is accounted for as an impairment loss with 

impact in the statement of comprehensive income of the relevant period.

From the moment the asset is classified as held for sale and eventually revalued, it ceases to be 

depreciated/amortised and impairment is only being determined.

Any gain from any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell, but not in excess 

of the cumulative impairment loss that has been recognized, is determined and is accounted for 

in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Impairment of assetsF)	

Property, plant and equipment and other assets, including goodwill and intangible assets, 

are reviewed for impairment losses whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that the carrying amount may not be recoverable or at least on an annual basis for goodwill and 

for intangibles with an indefinite useful life and for intangibles not yet in use. An impairment loss 

is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 

amount, which is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. For the purposes 

of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level, for which there are separately 

identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

Impairment losses are recognised in expenses when incurred. A previously recognised impairment 

loss is reversed (except for the Goodwill impairment loss) only if there has been a change in the 

estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 

recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 

amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 

years. Such reversal is recognised as a reduction in the expenses in the period in which the 

reversal occurs.

Investments and other financial assetsG)	

The Company classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables and available-

for-sale financial assets.

Financial assets that are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from 

short-term fluctuations in price are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

and are included in current assets. During 2009 and 2008, the Company did not hold any financial 

assets in this category.

Investments with a fixed maturity that management has the intent and ability to hold to maturity 

are classified as held-to-maturity and are disclosed as current or non-current assets, depending on 

the period in which the settlement will take place.

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market and are measured at amortised cost using an effective interest rate 

method and are disclosed as current or non-current assets, depending on the period in which the 

settlement will take place.

Investments intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response 

to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, are classified as available-for-sale; these are 

included in non-current assets unless management has expressed the intention of holding 

the investment for less than 12 months from the balance sheet date or unless they will need to be 

sold to raise operating capital, in which case they are included in current assets.

Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the time 

of the purchase and re-evaluates such designation on a regular basis, as required under IAS 39.
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All purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date, which is the date 

that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. The cost of purchase includes all 

transaction costs. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale 

investments are subsequently carried at fair value, whilst held-to-maturity investments are 

carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Realised and unrealised 

gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss are included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which 

they arise. On the contrary, unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value 

of available-for-sale investments are included in equity in the period in which they arise, except 

for impairment losses, until the financial asset is de-recognised, at which time the cumulative gain 

or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether financial assets or groups of financial 

assets are impaired.

(1) Assets carried at amortized costs

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held to maturity 

investments carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as 

the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 

cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount 

of the asset is reduced either directly or through use of an allowance account. The amount of the 

loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually 

for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial 

assets that are not individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of 

impairment exists for individually assessed financial assets, whether significant or not, it is 

included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of 

financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 

impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in 

a collective assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 

be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and only to the extent that the carrying 

amount of the financial asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective 

evidence (such as the probability of insolvency) that the Company will not be able to collect all of 

the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable 

is reduced through use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are 

assessed as uncollectible or sold.

(2) Available-for-sale financial assets

If this asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been previously recognised (due to fair value 

revaluation) directly in equity shall be removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss even 

though the financial asset has not been derecognised.
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The amount of the cumulative loss that is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss 

shall be the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and 

amortisation) and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit 

or loss.

Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through profit or loss, 

if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring 

after the impairment loss was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

De-recognition of financial assets

A financial asset is de-recognised when:

the rights to receive cash flow from the asset have expired,a)	

the Company retains the right to receive cash flow from the asset, but has assumed b)	

an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under 

a “pass-through” arrangement, or

the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the assets and either has c)	

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or has neither transferred nor 

retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 

asset.

LeasesH)	

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance 

of the arrangement at inception date of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent 

on the use of specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the assets.

Leases under which a significant portion of the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively 

retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases 

are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of 

the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment that 

is required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period 

in which termination takes place.

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company bears substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized 

at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present 

value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability 

and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. 

The corresponding lease obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term 

payables (depending on maturity).

The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the statement of comprehensive income 

over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability for each period. If there is a reasonable certainty that the lessee will 
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obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the period of expected use is the useful life of the 

asset; otherwise the property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated 

over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.

A sale and lease back transaction involves the sale of an asset and the leasing back of the 

asset. Within the Company’s operations the selling price of the asset and lease payments are 

independent and established at fair value. Therefore the gain from the sale of the asset and the 

lease payments are accounted as two separate transactions.

InventoriesI)	

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Costs of inventories include 

the purchase price and related costs of acquisition (transport, customs duties and insurance). The 

cost of inventory is determined using weighted average cost. Net realisable value is the estimate 

of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling 

expenses.

Trade receivablesJ)	

Trade receivables are carried at original invoice amount less allowance for impairment of these 

receivables. Such allowance for impairment of trade receivables is established if there is objective 

evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 

terms of receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the carrying amount 

and the recoverable amount, being the present value of expected cash flows, discounted at the 

initial market rate of interest for similar borrowers. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables 

are usually not discounted. The amount of the allowance is recognized in the statement of 

comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalentsK)	

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purposes of the cash 

flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call 

with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months 

or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on 

the balance sheet.

Financial debtL)	

Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. 

In subsequent periods, borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 

method; any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings.
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Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right 

to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Interest costs on borrowings used to finance the acquisition and construction of qualifying assets 

are capitalized during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for 

its intended use. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

Current and deferred income taxesM)	

Taxation expense represents both current and deferred taxation, where appropriate.

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured 

at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates 

and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by 

the balance sheet date.

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the 

statement of comprehensive income.

Deferred income taxation is calculated using the liability method applied to all temporary 

differences arising between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying values 

for financial reporting purposes. Currently enacted tax rates and laws expected to apply when the 

asset is realised or the liability is settled are used to determine the deferred income tax.

The principal temporary differences arise from differences in the tax and accounting values 

of property, plant and equipment, impairment of receivables and allowance for obsolete and 

slow moving inventories, non tax deductible allowances and provisions, unused tax credits and, in 

relation to acquisitions, on the difference between the fair values of the net assets acquired and 

their tax base.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The Company accounts for the tax consequences of transactions and other events in the same 

way that it accounts for the transactions and other events themselves. Thus, for transactions 

and other events recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, any related tax effects 

are also recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. For transactions and other 

events recognised directly in equity, any related tax effects are also recognised directly in equity. 

Similarly, the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities in a business combination affects 

the amount of goodwill.

Deferred income tax assets and tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set 

off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate 

to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. The same applies for offsetting of 

current tax assets and liabilities.
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Employee benefitsN)	

(1) Pension obligations

Contributions are made to the Government’s health, retirement benefit and unemployment 

schemes at the statutory rates applicable during the period and are based on gross salary 

payments. The arrangements of the Government’s health, retirement benefit and unemployment 

schemes correspond to the arrangements for defined contribution plans. The Company 

has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The expense 

for the contributions is charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the same 

period as the related salary expense. The Company also makes contributions to defined 

contribution schemes operated by external pension companies. These contributions are charged 

to the statement of comprehensive income in the period to which the contributions relate.

(2) Redundancy and termination benefits

Redundancy and termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before 

the normal retirement or contract expiry date. The Company recognises redundancy and 

termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to terminate the employment of current 

employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal.

Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to present 

value. There are no redundancy and termination benefits falling due more than 12 months after 

the balance sheet date.

(3) Bonus plans

The Company recognises a liability for bonuses based on a formula that takes into consideration 

certain performance related measures, such as turnover or free cash flow, after certain 

adjustments. The Company recognises a provision where the Company is contractually obliged 

or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. 

Share-based compensationO)	

During 2006, the Company introduced performance compensation systems linked to the market 

value of shares of the parent company, Telefónica, S.A. Certain compensation plans are settled in 

cash, while the others are settled via the delivery of shares.

IFRS 2 is applied to compensation schemes linked to the share price with the following accounting 

treatment:

Option plans that can be cash-settled or equity-settled at the option of the employee 

are recognized at the fair value on the grant date of the liability and equity components 

of the compound instrument granted.

In the cash-settled share option plan, the total cost of the rights to shares granted are expensed 

over the period during which the beneficiary earns the full right to exercise the options (vesting 

period). The total cost of the options is initially measured based on their fair value at the 

grant date calculated by the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms 

and conditions established in each share option plan. At each subsequent reporting date, the 
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Company revises its estimate of fair value and the number of options it expects to vest, booking 

any change in the liability through the statement of comprehensive income for the period, 

if appropriate. 

For the equity-settled share option plan, fair value at the grant date is measured using 

the binominal methodology. These plans are expensed during the vesting period with a credit 

to equity. At each subsequent reporting date, the Company revises its estimate of the number 

of options it expects to be exercised, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. As the plan 

will be settled by a physical delivery of equity instruments of the parent, Telefónica, S.A., to the 

employees, the personnel expense accrued is recognised against equity.

ProvisionsP)	

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation 

as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 

the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the Company expects 

a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when 

the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Revenue recognitionQ)	

Revenue, shown net of Value Added Tax and any discounts, and after eliminating sales within the 

Company, comprises goods sold and services provided. Revenues are measured at their fair value 

of the consideration received or receivable. The amount of revenue is recognised if it can be 

measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction 

will flow to the Company. If necessary, revenue is split into separately identifiable components.

The Company offers customers free minutes for a selected price based on a chosen customer plan. 

Free unused minutes at the end of the month might be rolled over to the following month. The 

Company is not obliged to reimburse the customer for unused minutes and the option of rolling 

over any unused minutes is valid for only one month.

The Company recognises revenue for free minutes in the period when the related services are 

provided and consumed, if material. Any rollover minutes are deferred and recognised when the 

minutes are used or the option expires.

In assessing whether revenue should be recognised gross, i.e. with separate disclosure of costs to 

arrive at gross profit, or on a net basis, the Company considers these indicators of gross revenue 

reporting:

the Company is the primary obligor in the arrangement,a)	

the Company has general inventory risk,b)	

the Company has price latitude,c)	

the Company changes the product or performs part of the service,d)	

the Company has discretion in supplier selection,e)	

the Company is involved in the determination of product or service specifications,f)	

Company has credit risk,g)	
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the Company has the ability to set the terms of the transaction,h)	

the Company has the managerial control over the transaction.i)	

The relative strength of each indicator is considered when concluding which accounting 

treatment to use for principal/agency arrangement.

If a transaction is considered to meet conditions of an agency arrangement, the revenue is 

recognised only at the amount of the commission received/realised, e.g. premium rate lines.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts (long-term contracts) is recognised 

on the percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the percentage of actual cost 

incurred to date to estimated total costs of the contract. An expected loss on the construction 

contract is recognised as an expense immediately, when it is probable that total contract costs will 

exceed total contract revenue.

(1) Fixed line business revenues

Revenue is recognized as follows:

Domestic and international call revenues

Domestic and international call revenues are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income at the time the call is made.

Universal service

The Company is obliged to render certain fixed line telephony services defined by the Act on 

Electronic Communications. The Company follows the accounting policy of Telefónica Group. 

Untill March 2008, the Company recognised revenues using netto principle and recognised 

revenues when the contribution was received. From April 2008 untill June 2009 the Company 

reported revenue using gross principle and recognised the compensation when CTO approved 

the total compensation and decided about percentage shares and absolute amounts of other 

operators contributions. As a result of further favourable development in smoothing of the 

recovery process and associated environment, since July 2009 the Company started to recognise 

the compensation of revenues attributable to the Company on standard accrual basis while 

keeping the gross principle of recording.

Subscription revenues

Revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which 

the services are rendered.

Revenues from sales of prepaid cards

Prepaid call card sales are deferred until the customer uses the stored value in the card to pay for 

the relevant calls. The expiry date for prepaid cards is not longer than 36 months.

Connection fees

Connection fees, arising from the connection of the customers to the Company’s network, are 

deferred and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the estimated average 

customer relationship period on the basis of the degressive accounting method.

Equipment sales and other sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of telephone equipment and accessories and other sale of goods is 

recognised at the time of sale i.e. when the Company has transferred to the buyer the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.
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Local loop unbundling

Revenue from access to the local loop unbundling is deferred in the statement of comprehensive 

income and recognised in the period in which the service is rendered. Regular monthly fee 

is recognised on the straight line basis in the period when the service is consumed. Revenue 

from the preparation of the location (collocation) for an alternative operator is recognized 

upfront in the statement of comprehensive income when it occurs.

(2) Mobile business revenues

The Company earns mobile services revenue from customers usage of the Company’s network, 

interconnection and roaming – collectively, “Mobile service revenue”. The Company also earns 

revenue from the sale of mobile telephone equipment and accessories as well as from activation 

fees.

Airtime revenues

Post-paid customers are billed monthly in arrears for airtime revenues. Revenue from post-paid 

customers is recognised as their airtime and other services are used. Prepaid customers recharge 

a credit, which entitles them to a certain value of airtime and other services. Revenue from 

prepaid customers is deferred and recognized as the airtime and other services are used. Upon 

termination of the customer contract or expiration of voucher (up to 14 months), all deferred 

revenue for unused airtime is recognized in income.

Both, post-paid and prepaid products may include deliverables such as a handset, activation 

and airtime and that are defined as arrangements with multiple deliverables. The arrangement 

consideration is allocated to each deliverable, based on its fair value. Revenue allocated 

to the identified deliverables in each revenue arrangement is recognized based on the same 

recognition criteria of the individual deliverables at the time the product or service is delivered.

Equipment sales and mobile services

Monthly service revenues and revenues from handset sales are recognized as revenue when the 

product or service is delivered to the distributor or to the end customer. Resulting losses from sale 

of handsets at a discount are recognised at the date of sale.

Roaming revenues

Mobile segment derives roaming revenue as a result of airtime and other services used 

by the mobile segment’s customers roaming on partners’ networks in other countries and vice 

versa. Amounts receivable from and payable to roaming partners are netted and settled net 

on a regular basis.

Costs

Commissions and discounts directly related to the sale of equipment, SIM cards and activations 

are netted against revenue in the period the product is sold to the dealer, distributor or the end 

customer. Other commission payments to dealers for activations, various marketing promotions 

and other activities are included in the costs of sales for the period.

(3) Interconnect revenues

Interconnect revenues are derived from calls and other traffic that originate in other domestic 

and foreign operators’ network but use the Company’s network. These revenues are recognised 

in the statement of comprehensive income at the time when the call is received in the 

Company’s network. The Company pays a proportion of the call revenue it collects from its 

customers to other domestic and foreign operators’ for calls and other traffic that originate 
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in the Company’s network but use other domestic and foreign operators’ network. Amounts 

receivable from and payable to other domestic and foreign operators are netted and settled net 

on a regular basis. 

(4) Internet, IPTV and data services

The Company earns revenue from providing Internet services, IPTV and other data services. 

Revenue from such services is recognised at the time the service is provided.

(5) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

(6) Interest

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method).

(7) Instalment sales

Revenue attributable to the sales price, exclusive of interest, is recognised at the date of sale. The 

sale price is the present value of the consideration, determined by discounting the instalments 

receivable at the imputed rate of interest. The interest element is recognised as revenue as it is 

earned, using the effective interest method.

Dividend distributionR)	

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability 

in the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the 

Company’s shareholders.

Financial instrumentsS)	

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and bank balances, investments, 

receivables, payables, borrowings and derivatives. Detailed figures are described in Note 15.

Financial risk management

The Company’s is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in debt 

market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates as a result of ordinary business, 

debt taken on to finance its business and net investment in foreign operations.

The Company’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 

seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company. The 

Company uses either derivative financial instruments (such as forward and swap contracts) or 

non-derivative instruments (such as cash instruments) to hedge certain exposures.

The Company does not conduct any speculative trading activities.

Risk management is carried out by the treasury department under approved policies. The Board 

of Directors provides written principles for overall risk management. In line with these principles, 

policies exist for specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 

liquidity risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investing excess liquidity.
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(i) Foreign currency risk

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from various currency exposures, 

primarily with respect to the Euro and partially to US Dollar:

balance sheet items (such as debt, receivables, payables) denominated in foreign currency,a)	

probable forecasted transactions or firm commitments (such as purchases or sales) b)	

denominated in foreign currency,

net investment in Slovak subsidiary (functional currency differs from CZK).c)	

The Company’s objective in managing its exposure to foreign currency fluctuations is to minimize 

earnings and cash flow volatility associated with foreign exchange rate changes.

The Company primarily hedges the balance sheet foreign currency exposure, mainly long term 

debt denominated in EUR and net payables in EUR or USD. Just plain-vanilla instruments are 

currently used for hedging this kind of exposure.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk arising from:

floating interest rate bearing cash investments and debt instruments,a)	

fair value of debt on fixed interest rate.b)	

The Company’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes 

in market interest rates. The cash assets and short term debt are currently maintained on floating 

rates while long term debt instruments are on fixed rates. The Company may sometimes use 

interest rate swaps and forward rate agreements to manage a mix of fixed and variable rate 

debts.

(iii) Liquidity rate risk

The Company’s essential objective of liquidity risk management is to have ready access to cash 

resources sufficient to meet all its cash payment obligations as they fall due, allowing some 

flexibility. The cash resources consist of generated cash position (maintained in quickly liquid 

instruments), and committed credit facilities arranged with banks.

The Company is particularly focusing on the liquidity profile within the time horizon of the next 

12 months considering projected cash flow from operations and maturity structure of both debt 

obligations and financial investments. The balance between funding continuity and flexibility is 

managed through maintaining the possible use of bank overdrafts or bilateral credit lines.

(iv) Credit risk

Concentrations of credit risk, with respect to trade accounts receivable, are limited due 

to the large number of customers. However, substantially all trade receivables are concentrated 

within the Czech Republic. Although the Company does not currently foresee a dramatically 

higher credit risk associated with these receivables, repayment is significantly impacted by 

the financial stability of the national economy.

The Company trades only with recognized, creditworthy third parties. It is the Company’s policy 

that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. 

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 
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Company’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The maximum exposure is the carrying 

amount as disclosed in Note 12. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the 

Company. 

With respect to credit risk arising from the financial assets of the Company, which comprise 

cash and cash equivalents, available for sale investments and certain derivative instruments, 

the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum 

exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

Credit Risk is managed by the Credit Management Department and is based on three main 

activities:

monitoring of accounts receivables: regular monitoring of payment moral of existing a)	

customers and monitoring and analyzing of the receivable aging structure (internal and 

external indicators of any potential bad debts),

prevention: scoring of new customers – checking procedures (Black Lists, External Debtors b)	

Register, other information), set up the limits or/and collection of the deposit according to 

customer segments, products and set up the credit limits for indirect sales partners (dealers, 

distributors, retailers) for purchase of our products, „securing“ of credit limits (deposits, 

receivables insurance, bill of exchange, pledge of real estate, bank guarantee etc.). Guarantees 

are either in cash (deposits) or there are special procedures to collect cash for the other 

securing tools (insurance etc.),

collection: reasonable, effective and continual collection process is the additional tool of bad c)	

debts decrease and prevention as well.

New credit management activities during last years

During last years the Company introduced new credit management activities such as: 

implementation of the connection to the external Debtors Register Solus (sharing debtors data a)	

with other members – banks, other telecommunication operators, leasing companies etc.), 

implementation of the credit management best practice from the merge of the fixed and b)	

mobile business in all company activities,

checking of the new activation by using of integrated Black Lists, c)	

implementation of strict activation rules for all distribution channels. d)	

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at cost and 

subsequently are re-measured at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain 

or loss is dependent on the nature of the item being hedged. On the date a derivative contract is 

entered into, the Company designates certain derivatives as either: 

hedge of the fair value of a recognised asset or liability (fair value hedge), ora)	

hedge of a forecasted transaction or of a firm commitment (cash flow hedge).b)	

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges 

and that are highly effective are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, along with 

changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges 

and that are highly effective are recognised in equity. Where the forecasted transaction or firm 

commitment results in the recognition of an asset or of a liability, the gains and losses previously 
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deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost 

of the asset or liability. Otherwise, amounts deferred in equity are transferred to the statement 

of comprehensive income and classified as revenue or expense in the same periods during which 

the hedged firm commitment or forecasted transaction affects the statement of comprehensive 

income.

Certain derivative transactions, while providing effective economic hedges under 

the Company’s risk management policies, either do not qualify for hedge accounting under 

the specific rules in IAS 39 or the Company has elected not to apply the specific IAS 39 hedge 

accounting provisions. Changes in the fair value of such derivative instruments that do not qualify 

for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria 

for hedge accounting under IAS 39, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time 

remains in equity and is recognised when the committed or forecasted transaction ultimately is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. However, if a committed or forecasted 

transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity 

is immediately transferred to the statement of comprehensive income.

The Company documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between 

hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy 

for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives 

designated as hedges to specific assets and liabilities or to specific firm commitments or forecast 

transactions. The Company also documents its assessment, both at the hedge inception and 

on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly 

effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 

19. Movements on the hedging reserve in shareholder’s equity are shown in Note 24.

Fair value estimation

Except for currency options, the fair values of the derivative financial instruments reflect 

estimates based on calculations performed using the Company’s own discounted cash flow 

models (using market rates). The fair value of currency options is based on information obtained 

from external parties, including the Company’s bankers.

Critical accounting estimates and judgmentsT)	

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 

estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances.

The estimates and assumptions that might have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 

to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next year are discussed below:
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(1) Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Company created a provision for current income taxes and in consideration of the temporary 

differences also for deferred tax. There are many transactions and calculations for which 

the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business and the 

measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would 

follow from the manner in which the Company expects to recover or settle the carrying amount 

of assets and liabilities. Where the final tax-deductible expenses are different from the amounts 

that were calculated, such differences will impact the current income and deferred tax provisions 

in the period in which such determination is made. As at 31 December 2009, the total amount of 

provision for current income taxes is CZK 3,232 million, advances paid for income taxes amount to 

CZK 3,926 million and the net deferred tax liability is CZK 3,333 million.

In October 2007, the new Czech legislation was enacted, by which the corporate income tax rate 

was be reduced from 24 % to 21 %, 20 % and 19 % for the fiscal years ending in 2008, 2009 and 

2010, respectively (see Note 5).

(2) Goodwill

The Company tests at each reporting date goodwill for an impairment. However goodwill does 

not generate cash flows independently of other assets or groups of assets and the assessment of 

its carrying value is significantly impacted by the management’s assessment of the performance 

and expected future performance of the operation to which the goodwill relates. In accordance 

with the requirement of IAS 36, goodwill is tested annually for its recoverable amount, as well as 

when there are indications of impairment. At 31 December 2009 the carrying amount of goodwill 

is CZK 13,320 million (See Note 9).

(3) Provisions and contingent liabilities

As set out in Note 20 the Company is a participant in several lawsuits and administrative 

proceedings including those related to its pricing policies. The Company’s treatment 

of obligations with uncertain timing and amount depends on the management’s estimation 

of the amount and timing of the obligation and probability of an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits that will be required to settle the obligation (both legal or 

constructive). A provision is recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result 

of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Contingent 

liabilities are not recognised because their existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence 

or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control 

of the Company. Contingent liabilities are assessed continually to determine whether an outflow 

of resource embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it becomes probable that 

an outflow of future economic benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as 

a contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the financial statements of the period in which 

the change in probability occurs.

(4) Interconnect

The Company provides and enters into the contracts for interconnect services and the revenue 

is recognised on the basis of the reasonable estimation of expected amount. Such estimation 

is regularly reviewed, however the final agreement and invoicing can be with some operators 

stated on up to a yearly basis.
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(5) Impairment of the fixed line business assets

The Company makes an assessment at each balance sheet date whether there is any indication 

that an impairment loss recognised for the fixed line business assets in prior years may no longer 

exist, may have decreased or may have increased. If any such indication exists, the Company 

estimates a recoverable amount of the assets and compares to the carrying value (net of the 

impairment allowance). In assessing whether there is any indication that the impairment 

loss recognised in the past may no longer exist, the Company considers both external and 

internal indicators (decline of asset’s market value, changes expected in the market, including 

technological changes etc.). Where an estimate of recoverable amount is calculated, there 

is a number of management assumptions about future business performance, which may, 

ultimately, differ from reality.

Based on the assessment performed by the Company, no increase or decrease of the previously 

recognised impairment of fixed line business assets was recognised in 2009 and 2008 (see Note 8 

and 10).

(6) Operating lease commitments – Company as lessee

In 2007 the Company changed its headquarters and moved to the new premises, where 

the Company has entered into the commercial property leases. The Company has determined, 

based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that the lessor retains 

all the significant risks and rewards of the ownership and therefore the Company accounts for 

the contract as an operating lease.

(7) Advertising and promotional activities

The Company recognizes the expenditures on advertising and promotional activities as an 

expense when they incurred. Both production costs and advertising and promotional materials 

are immediately expensed when received.

Investments in subsidiary and associated undertakingsU)	

A subsidiary is an enterprise that is controlled by the Company, which means that the Company 

has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its 

activities.

An associated undertaking is an enterprise where the Company has significant influence, which is 

the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions, but not exercise control.

Equity investments in subsidiaries and associates are recorded at cost less an allowance 

for diminution in value.

No consolidation of subsidiaries or associates has been performed as these financial statements 

are presented on a stand-alone basis. In accordance with the requirements of the Act on 

Accounting, the Company prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS.
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Change in accounting policyV)	

No significant changes in accounting policies were applied in 2009 and 2008.

Operating profitW)	

Operating profit is defined as profit before financial results and taxes and represents profit 

from the business operations. Financial results consist of interest income, interest expense, other 

financial expense (which include primarily bank charges), fair value losses and gains on financial 

instruments and foreign exchange gains and losses.
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Segment information1)	

Business segments recognised by the Company are as follows:

Fixed – network communications services using a fixed network and IS/ICT services,——

Mobile – mobile communications services.——

Year ended 31 December 2009 

In CZK million Fixed Mobile Company

Revenues 27,239 31,813 59,052

Inter-segment sales (394) (604) (998)

Total revenues 26,845 31,209 58,054

Gains from sale of non-current assets 422 – 422

Internal expenses capitalised in fixed assets 456 204 660

Costs (15,204) (17,455) (32,659)

Inter-segment purchases 604 394 998

Total costs (14,600) (17,061) (31,661)

Impairment charge (17) (6) (23)

Depreciation (7,031) (2,727) (9,758)

Amortisation (842) (1,088) (1,930)

Total depreciation and amortization (7,873) (3,815) (11,688)

Operating profit 5,233 10,531 15,764

Interest and other financial income (net) (153)

Profit before tax 15,611

Tax (3,197)

Net profit 12,414

Assets (excluding goodwill and non-current assets held for sale) 51,570 30,295 81,865

Goodwill on purchase of additional ownership interest  

(Eurotel Praha, spol. s r.o.) – 13,320 13,320

Non-current assets held for sale 95 – 95

Total assets 51,665 43,615 95,280

Trade and other payables 4,938 5,772 10,710

Other liabilities 3,126 3,654 6,780

Total liabilities 8,064 9,426 17,490

Capital expenditure 3,229 2,622 5,851
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Year ended 31 December 2008 

In CZK million Fixed Mobile Company

Revenues 30,220 34,587 64,807

Inter-segment sales (423) (771) (1,194)

Total revenues 29,797 33,816 63,613

Gains from sale of non-current assets 855 – 855

Internal expenses capitalised in fixed assets 261 80 341

Costs (18,432) (17,994) (36,426)

Inter-segment purchases 771 423 1,194

Total costs (17,661) (17,571) (35,232)

Impairment charge (83) (2) (85)

Depreciation (7,255) (3,583) (10,838)

Amortisation (650) (1,226) (1,876)

Total depreciation and amortization (7,905) (4,809) (12,714)

Operating profit 5,264 11,514 16,778

Interest and other financial costs (net) 12

Profit before tax 16,790

Tax (3,697)

Net profit 13,093

Assets (excluding goodwill and non-current assets held for sale) 37,880 50,772 88,652

Goodwill on purchase of additional ownership interest  

(Eurotel Praha, spol. s r.o.) – 13,320 13,320

Non-current assets held for sale 96 – 96

Total assets 37,976 64,092 102,068

Trade and other payables 6,163 6,675 12,838

Other liabilities 3,720 4,031 7,751

Total liabilities 9,883 10,706 20,589

Capital expenditure 4,271 2,474 6,745

Revenue of the Company is predominantly derived from domestic trading activities and 

as a result, segment reporting is only shown on the basis of business segments. With respect 

to the issue of IFRS 8 Operating segments and the deep integration process from the past 

convergence of fixed and mobile operations, the Company has analysed criteria for segment 

identification. The adoption of the standard has not led to a change in the reported segments.

The inter-segment pricing rates applied in 2009 and 2008 were determined on the same basis as 

rates applicable for other mobile operators and are consistent with rates applied for pricing with 

other mobile operators.

Capital expenditures comprise additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
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Revenue and Internal expenses capitalized in fixed assets2)	

Revenue  

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Voice – outgoing 12,578 14,958

Interconnection and other wholesale services 9,380 10,128

Monthly and one-off charges from voice services 15,032 16,200

Connection charges 192 326

SMS & MMS & Value added services 4,669 4,958

Leased lines and fixed data services 3,509 3,866

Internet (including monthly and one-off charges), 

mobile data 7,376 6,459

IT and business solutions 2,609 2,107

Equipment and activation fee 1,492 1,928

Other telecommunication revenues 901 2,182

Other revenues 316 501

Total revenues 58,054 63,613

Categories of revenues were rearranged in order to improve the presentation of revenues.

Revenues from related parties are disclosed in Note 25.

The aggregate future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, where 

the Company is a lessor and give rise to future revenues consist of the buildings and other 

telecommunication equipment rentals as follows:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

No later than 1 year 142 185

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 593 754

Later than 5 years 156 198

Total 891 1,137

Internal expenses capitalized in fixed assets 

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Material 15 30

Labour 645 311

Total 660 341
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Operating expenses3)	

The following items have been included into the operating expenses:

Operating expenses 

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Wages and salaries* 4,592 4,703

Redundancy payments 161 160

Social security contributions (Note 17) 1,510 1,504

Staff welfare costs 228 148

Total staff costs 6,491 6,515

Interconnection and roaming 10,650 11,408

Cost of goods sold 2,225 2,972

Contents 270 235

Customer loyalty program 74 363

Sub-deliveries 1,453 1,335

Commissions 1,116 1,167

Telecom services 205 173

Other cost of sales 583 1,109

Billing and collection 413 399

Marketing 1,220 1,514

Call centres 426 305

Network & IT repairs and maintenance 2,401 2,535

Rentals, buildings and vehicles 1,952 1,973

Utilities supplies 1,037 1,031

Consultancy and professional fees 156 211

Other external services 98 1,166

Provision for bad and doubtful debts and inventories 472 352

Taxes (other than income tax) 386 384

Other operating expenses 33 85

Total operating expenses 31,661 35,232

*	 Certain Company employees (including the Board of Directors) with specialised know how, or who have access 

to business secrets, or who are considered important to the development of the business, are bound by non-

competition restrictions, for a maximum period of 12 months from the date of termination of their employment 

with the Company. The Company paid CZK 14 million in relation to such non-competition clauses in 2009 (2008: 

CZK 11million).

Categories of costs were rearranged in order to improve the presentation of costs.

Statutory auditor’s fees for the year ended 31 December 2009 were as follows:

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Statutory audit 22 23

Purchases from related parties are disclosed in Note 25.
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Interest and other finance income and expense4)	

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Financial income

Interest income 165 446

Gain for derivatives of fair value hedges (net) 71 65

Other financial income 1,055 1,306

Total financial income 1,291 1,817

Financial expenses

Interest expenses (229) (313)

Other financial expenses (1,215) (1,492)

Total financial expenses (1,444) (1,805)

Net financial loss/income (153) 12

Income tax5)	

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Total income tax expense is made up of:

 Current income tax charge 3,163 3,755

 Deferred income tax credit (Note 16) 34 (58)

Taxes on income 3,197 3,697

The tax on the Company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 

using the basic tax rate of the home country of the Company as follows:

In CZK million

Year ended 

31 December 2009

Year ended 

31 December 2008

Profit before tax 15,611 16,790

Income tax charge calculated at the statutory rate 

of 20 % (2008: 21 %) 3,122 3,526

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 144 149

Tax related to prior periods (69) 22

Taxes on income 3,197 3,697

Effective tax rate 20 % 22 %
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Earnings per share6)	

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Weighted number of ordinary shares in issue 322,089,900 322,089,900

Net profit attributable to shareholders  

(in CZK million) 12,414 13,093

Basic earnings per share (CZK) 39 41

There is no dilution of earnings as no convertible instruments have been issued by the Company.

Dividends7)	

In CZK million 2009 2008

Dividends declared (including withholding tax) 16,104 16,104

Dividends include withholding tax on dividends paid by the Company to its shareholders. 

There has been no interim dividend paid in respect of 2009. Approval of the 2009 profit 

and the decision regarding the amount of any dividend payment for the 2009 financial year will 

take place at the Annual General Shareholders Meeting.
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Property, plant and equipment8)	

In CZK million

Land and 

buildings

Ducts, cables 

and related plant

Communication 

exchanges 

and related 

equipment

Other 

fixed 

assets

Capital work 

in progress 

including 

advances paid Total

At 31 December 2009

Opening net book amount 10,520 36,227 10,116 1,789 2,546 61,198

Additions 322 759 2,074 856 3,924 7,935

Disposals and other movements 813 396 (1,133) (101) (3,963) (3,988)

Assets classified as held for sale (185) (3) – – – (188)

Depreciation charge (676) (4,238) (3,961) (883) – (9,758)

Impairment charge – – (1) – (12) (13)

Closing net book amount 10,794 33,141 7,095 1,661 2,495 55,186

At 31 December 2009

Cost 19,264 101,172 86,987 9,464 2,527 219,414

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment allowance (8,470) (68,031) (79,892) (7,803) (32) (164,228)

Net book amount 10,794 33,141 7,095 1,661 2,495 55,186

At 31 December 2008

Opening net book amount 14,013 39,710 12,711 1,931 2,434 70,799

Additions 508 769 2,339 1,015 4,500 9,131

Disposals and other movements – – (104) (15) (4,375) (4,494)

Assets classified as held for sale (3,285) (25) (6) – – (3,316)

Depreciation charge (667) (4,206) (4,823) (1,142) – (10,838)

Impairment charge (49) (21) (1) – (13) (84)

Closing net book amount 10,520 36,227 10,116 1,789 2,546 61,198

At 31 December 2008

Cost 17,459 99,982 90,504 10,315 2,573 220,833

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment allowance (6,939) (63,755) (80,388) (8,526) (27) (159,635)

Net book amount 10,520 36,227 10,116 1,789 2,546 61,198

As at 31 December 2009, the carrying value of non-depreciated assets amounted 

to CZK 214 million (2008: CZK 241 million).

No property, plant and equipment were pledged as at 31 December 2009.

No borrowing costs were capitalized during the years 2009 and 2008.

The Company reviewed useful lives of assets in 2009 and adjusted when appropriate. This review 

did not have a material impact on the financial results in 2009. Change in estimate of useful life 

of assets has been done prospectively since 1 January 2010.
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The Company reports and classifies the following assets held for sale at the balance sheet date:

In CZK million

Land and 

buildings

Communication 

exchanges 

and related 

equipment

Other fixed 

assets Total

At 31 December 2009

Opening net book amount 96 – – 96

Disposals and other movements (179) – – (179)

Impairment charge (10) – – (10)

Assets re-classified as held for sale 188 – – 188

Closing net book amount 95 – – 95

At 31 December 2009

Cost 804 120 76 1,000

Accumulated depreciation and impairment allowance (709) (120) (76) (905)

Net book amount 95 – – 95

At 31 December 2008

Opening net book amount 327 1 – 328

Disposals and other movements (3,540) (7) – (3,547)

Impairment charge (1) – – (1)

Assets re-classified as held for sale 3,310 6 – 3,316

Closing net book amount 96 – – 96

At 31 December 2008

Cost 789 187 6 982

Accumulated depreciation and impairment allowance (693) (187) (6) (886)

Net book amount 96 – – 96

Assets intended for sale in most cases represent administration buildings with land, that became 

vacant due to the Company’s optimisation process and which the Company will not use in the 

future and it is expected that their sale will take place within one year.

The non-current assets classified as held for sale are presented in the fixed segment.

In 2009, the Company achieved a total gain from the sale of the above fixed assets amounting 

to CZK 422 million (2008: CZK 855 million) and total losses in amount CZK 14 million (2008: 

CZK 58 million).

In 2008 and at the beginning of 2009, the Company completed the substantial part of a real 

estate usage optimisation process. In 2008, as part of this process, the Company sold a portfolio 

of administrative and technological buildings located throughout the whole Czech Republic. 

Net gain from the sale of the real estate portfolio amounted to CZK 727 million. A small portion 

of the real estate was leased back on the long term basis. In January 2009, the Company sold 

a construction site and two administrative buildings of the former headquarters at Olšanská 

street in Prague with a net gain exceeding CZK 300 million.

Cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment was CZK 69,826 million 

as at 31 December 2009 (2008: CZK 59,556 million).
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Intangible assets9)	

In CZK million Goodwill Licences Software Total

At 31 December 2009

Opening net book amount 13,320 4,287 4,095 21,702

Additions – – 1,906 1,906

Disposals and other 

movements – – (1) (1)

Amortisation charge – (386) (1,544) (1,930)

Closing net book amount 13,320 3,901 4,456 21,677

At 31 December 2009

Cost 13,320 6,073 25,776 45,159

Accumulated amortisation 

and impairment allowance – (2,172) (21,310) (23,482)

Net book amount 13,320 3,901 4,456 21,677

At 31 December 2008

Opening net book amount 13,320 4,686 3,461 21,467

Additions – – 2,184 2,184

Disposals and other 

movements – – (73) (73)

Amortisation charge – (399) (1,477) (1,876)

Closing net book amount 13,320 4,287 4,095 21,702

At 31 December 2008

Cost 13,320 6,073 24,137 43,530

Accumulated amortisation 

and impairment allowance – (1,786) (20,042) (21,828)

Net book amount 13,320 4,287 4,095 21,702

The Company reviewed useful lives of assets in 2009 and adjusted when appropriate. This review 

did not have a material impact on the financial results.

Goodwill

Goodwill in amount of CZK 13,320 million resulted from the acquisition of the remaining 49% 

ownership interest in Eurotel Praha spol. s r.o. (“Eurotel”). From the effective date of merger 

with Český Telecom, a.s. this goodwill is presented in the standalone financial statements 

of the Company. The initially recognized goodwill of CZK 14,087 million resulted from comparison 

of cost of business combination of CZK 29,215 million and fair value of net assets acquired 

of CZK 15,128 million. Until 31 December 2004 goodwill was amortised on a straight line 

basis over a period of 20 years and assessed for an indication of impairment at each balance 

sheet date.

Due to a revision of IFRS 3, IAS 36 and IAS 38 the Company ceased amortisation of the previously 

recognized goodwill from 1 January 2005. Accumulated amortisation as at 31 December 2004 

was eliminated with a corresponding decrease in the cost of goodwill (CZK 767 million). Since the 

year ending 31 December 2005 onwards, goodwill is classified as an asset with indefinite useful 

life which has been tested annually for the impairment, as well as when there are indications of 

impairment. There is no other intangible asset with indefinite useful life.
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The Company performed impairment tests and as result of the test the Company did not 

recognize any impairment losses of goodwill in 2009 and 2008. The impairment test involves 

determining the recoverable amount of the mobile cash-generating unit, which corresponds to 

the value in use. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived 

from a cash-generating unit.

Value in use is determined on the basis of an enterprise valuation model and is assessed from 

a Company internal perspective. Value in use is determined based on cash flow budgets, which 

are based on the medium-term business plan for a period of 3 years, which has been approved 

by the management and which is valid when the impairment test is performed. This business 

plan is based on the past experience, as well as on future market trends. Further, the business 

plan is based on general economic data derived from macroeconomic and financial studies. 

Cash flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using an appropriate growth rates. 

Key assumptions on which management has based its determination of business plan and 

growth rates include development of gross domestic product, interest rates, nominal wages, 

average revenue per user (ARPU), customer acquisition and retention costs, churn rates, capital 

expenditure, market share, growth rates and discount rates.

Any significant future changes in the market and competitive environments could have an 

adverse effect on the value of the cash-generating units.

The calculations of value in use for all cash-generating units are most sensitive to the following 

assumptions:

Estimated growth rate – the basis used to determine the value assigned to estimated growth 

rate is the forecast of the market and regulatory environment, where the Company conducts its 

business.

Discount rate – discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the risk specific to the cash 

generating unit. The basis used to determine the value assigned is weighted average of cost of 

capital (WACC).

Licences

Acquired licences are represented by rights to operate the UMTS, GSM and NMT cellular networks 

in the Czech Republic. The original 450 MHz and GSM operating licenses were granted for 

a period of twenty years from the signing of the agreement for the original 450 MHz license 

in 1991 and from the granting of the GSM license in 1996 for use of the 900 spectrum. In 1999, 

former Eurotel acquired an additional GSM 1800 spectrum under its existing GSM license. In 2002, 

the GSM license to both spectrums was renewed and is currently valid for the remaining period 

of seven years. In 2002, former Eurotel renewed its 450 MHz license; the current license enables 

the mobile segment to offer every internationally recognized public mobile telecommunication 

services on frequency of 450 MHz. Mobile segment currently provides on this frequency voice 

services under NMT standard and broadband Internet access services using CDMA technology. 

The NMT license is currently valid for the remaining period of two years.

In December 2001, former Eurotel acquired the UMTS license, which has been granted 

for a period of twenty years. Under the license, former Eurotel was provided with deferred 

payment terms by the Czech Telecommunication Office (“CTO”) to finance the license acquisition. 

In December 2003, former Eurotel signed an amendment to its original UMTS license agreement, 

by which the original launch of the service was extended by one year. According to the terms of 

this new amendment, former Eurotel agreed to pay the UMTS obligation in full during 2004 in 
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exchange for a forgiveness of 2003 and 2004 interest on the deferred payments provided as part 

of the UMTS license agreement. UMTS license was put into commercial use on 1 December 2005 

when it also started to be amortized. 

Carrying value of licences:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

GSM 900 license 474 546

GSM 1800 license 382 440

NMT 450 license 26 33

UMTS license 3,019 3,268

Total 3,901 4,287

No borrowing costs were capitalized during the years 2009 and 2008.

Cost of fully amortised intangible assets was CZK 16,381 million as at 31 December 2009 

(2008: CZK 16,829 million).

All of the Company’s intangible assets with finite lives are amortised and are subject to an annual 

review of impairment indicators and revision of useful life.

Impairment of fixed assets10)	

Fixed assets of the fixed line business 

During 2003, external factors relating to the telecommunication market and regulatory 

environment namely uncertainty regarding tariff rebalancing, termination charges for internet 

dial-up interconnection charges and other regulatory decisions in the Czech Republic led 

the management to assess and adjust the recoverable amount of the fixed line segment assets. 

The fixed line segment assets constitute one cash-generating unit (the “CGU”).

Value in use has been calculated by a method of cumulated discounted cash flows for a period 

limited by average useful life of the CGU’s key assets. Primarily, the following assumptions have 

been used in the impairment testing model: actual business plan, estimation of consecutive 

development of key indicators (revenues, margin, investments etc.) in the analyzed period, 

discount rate derived from weighted average cost of capital.

As at 31 December 2009, the management of the Company reviewed the indicators which would 

indicate that the impairment allowance of fixed line business assets made in 2003 is no longer 

relevant and should be adjusted upwards and downwards. Upon the review, a recoverable 

amount of the fixed line business assets (impairment test model) was estimated. Based on this 

assessment performed, the management believes that the value of the existing fixed network 

assets is fairly stated and does not differ substantially from the assets’ recoverable amount 

as at 31 December 2009.

Value in use as at 31 December 2009 has been calculated using the same methodology as in the 

year 2003.
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Inventories11)	

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Telecommunication material 153 114

Cables 31 47

Other inventory including goods for resale 387 578

Finished products and work in progress 14 4

Total 585 743

The inventories noted above are stated net of an allowance of CZK 65 million (2008: 

CZK 57 million), reducing the value of the inventories to their net realisable value. The total 

carrying amount of inventories at net realisable value amounts to CZK 55 million (2008: 

CZK 24 million). The amount of inventories recognised as an expense is CZK 2,630 million (2008: 

CZK 3,708 million).

Receivables and prepayments12)	

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Trade receivables (net) 7,910 7,962

Other debtors (net) 389 563

Prepayments 733 686

Other financial assets – short-term – 14

Derivative instruments 108 23

Total 9,140 9,248

Trade receivables are stated net of a bad debt provision of CZK 3,448 million (2008: 

CZK 3,241 million). In order to preserve the tax-deductible status of the bad debt expense, the 

Company’s trade receivables are not written off and removed from the primary books and records 

until certain statutory collection requirements have been satisfied.

The Company reviewed and adjusted the bad debt provision policy in 2009 according to 

collection rates of receivables. This review resulted in a release of provisions in the amount 

of CZK 215 million.

Receivables from related parties are disclosed in Note 25.

Trade receivables 

In CZK million

Carrying 

amount

Neither 

impaired 

nor overdue

Not impaired but overdue

Less than 

90 days

90 and 

180 days

180 and 

360 days 

More than 

360 days

At 31 December 2009 7,910 3,361 309 20 26 55

At 31 December 2008 7,962 5,134 607 60 139 80
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Bad debt provisions 

In CZK million

At 1 January 2008 3,277

Additions 855

Retirements/amount paid (891)

At 31 December 2008 3,241

Additions 961

Retirements/amount paid (754)

At 31 December 2009 3,448

The Company’s historical experience regarding the collection of accounts receivable is consistent 

with the recorded allowances. Due to these factors, the management believes that no additional 

credit risk beyond the amounts provided for is inherent in the Company’s trade receivables.

As at 31 December 2009 the Company presented non-current assets of CZK 1 311 million (2008: 

CZK 377 million) consisting of a long-term loan of CZK 1 032 million to Telefónica O2 Slovakia, 

s.r.o other long-term credits and advance payments for long-term expenses, which are classified 

as other financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents13)	

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008 Interest rate

Cash at current bank accounts 141 218 Floating

Cash at cash-pooling structures 

(inter-company) 1,100 6,344 Floating

Short-term bank deposits – 410 Fixed

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,241 6,972

As at 31 December 2008, the Company’s cash equivalents partially consisted of short-term bank 

promissory notes that were economically equivalent to bank term deposits and interest bearing 

deposits maturing in three months or less.

Since April 2006, the Company entered into mutual Telefónica Group cash-pooling, which enables 

the Telefónica Group good financial governance and effective operating free cash flow. The 

short-term deposits conditions are based on the arm’s length principle. The short-term deposits 

are classified as cash equivalents.

At 31 December 2009, the Company had available equivalent of CZK 4,056 million (2008: 

CZK 4,850 million) of undrawn committed facilities.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, the year-end cash and cash equivalents comprise 

only the following component:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Cash and cash equivalents 1,241 6,972

As of 31 December 2009 no cash and cash equivalents were pledged.
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Trade and other payables14)	

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Trade creditors 3,642 6,141

Other taxes and social security 182 184

Deferred revenue 926 977

Employee wages and benefits 678 712

VAT payable 575 464

Other creditors 296 404

Accruals 4,411 3,956

Total payables 10,710 12,838

Other non-current liabilities 19 175

Payables to related parties are disclosed in Note 25.

As at 31 December 2009 other non-current liabilities include primarily principals and liabilities 

with maturity in more than 12 months. As at 31 December 2008 other non-current liabilities 

included primarily deferred revenues from connection fees, which are expected to be taken to 

income in more than 12 months from the balance sheet date.

Financial debts15)	

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Bank loans in foreign currencies (a) 3,044 3,098

Bonds in local currency (b) – 5

Total borrowings 3,044 3,103

Accrued interest including commitment fees 84 86

Derivatives 3 7

Other financial debt 87 93

Total financial debt 3,131 3,196

Repayable:

 Within one year 87 98

 Between two and five years (total non-current) 3,044 3,098

Total financial debt 3,131 3,196

In July 1997, the Company raised a private placement in the total amount of EUR 127.8 million a)	

with a maturity date on 30 July 2012. As at 31 December 2009, the outstanding amount of the 

foreign currency loan amounts to EUR 115 million. As at 31 December 2009 the Company does 

not utilize bank overdrafts.

In 2003, the Company issued CZK 6,000 million of bonds with an interest rate 3.50 % p.a. and it b)	

was fully repaid at a maturity date of 9 July 2008.

For all borrowings, interest has been charged at commercial rates.
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The Company’s loan interest rate allocation after taking into account interest rate swaps was as 

follows:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

At fixed rate 3,044 3,103

The fair values of borrowings are based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based 

upon the borrowing rate that the Board of Directors expects to be available to the Company at 

the balance sheet date. The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings approximate their fair 

value.

Effective interest rates 2009 2008

Bank loans in foreign currencies 6.64 % 6.64 %

Bonds in local currency – 3.50 %

Loans are not secured over any assets of the Company.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial and trade liabilities 

at 31 December 2009 based on contractual undiscounted payments.

At 31 December 2009 

In CZK million

Less than 

3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years > 5years

Interest bearing loans and borrowings – 202 3,448 –

Trade and other payables (excluding 

deferred revenue) 8,763 1,021 – –

Derivatives fair value 3 – – –

Total 8,766 1,223 3,448 –

Non-current other liabilities – – 12 7

At 31 December 2008 

In CZK million

Less than 

3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years > 5years

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 5 206 3,715 –

Trade and other payables (excluding 

deferred revenue) 10,456 1,405 – –

Derivatives fair value 7 – – –

Total 10,468 1,611 3,715 –

Non-current other liabilities – – 168 7
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Fair values

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all 

of the Company’s financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements.

In CZK million

Carrying amount Fair value

2009 2008 2009 2008

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,241 6,972 1,241 6,972

Long-term loans 1,032 – 1,032 –

Derivatives 108 23 108 23

Other financial assets 279 377 279 377

In CZK million

Carrying amount Fair value

2009 2008 2009 2008

Financial liabilities

Interest bearing loans and borrowings

 Fixed rate borrowings 3,129 3,184 3,432 3,503

 Issued Bonds – 5 – 5

Derivatives 3 7 3 7

The fair value of derivatives and borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected 

future cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

As at 31 December 2009 the Company provided a long-term loan in the amount of EUR 39 million 

(CZK 1,032 million) to Telefónica O2 Slovakia, s.r.o.

Fair value hierarchy

As at 31 December 2009, the Company held the following financial instruments measured at 

fair value:

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of 

financial instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair 

value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 

that are not based on observable market data.

Assets measured at fair value

At 31 December 2009 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

In CZK million Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Foreign exchange contracts – 

non-hedged 108 – 108 –
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Liabilities measured at fair value

At 31 December 2009 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

In CZK million Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Foreign exchange forward contracts – 

non-hedged 3 – 3 –

During the reporting period ending 31 December 2009, there were no transfers between 

Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value 

measurements.

Financial risk analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in foreign 

exchange rates and interest rates.

In CZK million

Effect on profit before tax

2009 2008

FX risk

Value at Risk* (298) (277)

Stress testing* (56) (52)

IR risk

Stress testing* (82) (161)

*	 The Value at Risk (VaR) Model enables the Company estimate the probability of maximum possible loss to the 

portfolio value in the given time frame which will not be exceeded given the defined reliability level. For conducting 

a VaR calculation, the Company uses the risk variance and covariance method using the normal distribution (e.g. 

parametric method). The time frame used is one month with a 95 % reliability rate. Considering the importance 

of net open positions resulting from financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company in individual foreign 

currencies, the Company models VaR from a position of translation and transaction in EUR and USD.

FX risk used stress scenario represents the immediate loss caused by one-off change in the foreign 

exchange rate by 1 % in a negative direction

IR risk used stress scenario represents immediate one-off change of interest rates along the 

whole yield curve by 1 % in an unfavorable direction. The calculation of unfavourable impact on 

Company cash flows (due to an increase in interest expense or drop in interest received relating 

to financial assets and financial liabilities) is made each month on the floating basis within a time 

frame of 12 months.

Hedging

The following nominal value of foreign exchange forwards was used by the Company to hedge 

the currency risk:

Nominal value 

In EUR million

Fair value 

In CZK million

2009 2008 2009 2008

Forward exchange contracts 171 19 105 16
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Deferred income taxes 16)	

Deferred income taxes are calculated using currently enacted tax rates expected to apply when 

the asset is realized or the liability settled.

Short-term deferred taxes were calculated at 19 % (20% in 2008) and long-term deferred taxes 

were calculated at 19 % (2008:19 %).

In CZK million 2009 2008

At 1 January 3,299 3,353

Income statement tax charge / (credit) (Note 5) 34 (58)

Tax on fair value gains – 4

At 31 December 3,333 3,299

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right 

to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes 

relate to the same fiscal authority.

The following amounts, determined after offsetting, are shown in the balance sheet:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Deferred tax assets (316) (656)

Deferred tax liabilities 3,649 3,955

Total 3,333 3,299

The deferred tax asset includes CZK 289 million (2008: CZK 423 million) recoverable in less than 

twelve months and CZK 27 million (2008: CZK 233 million) recoverable after more than twelve 

months. The deferred tax liability includes CZK 378 million (2008: CZK 493 million) payable in less 

than twelve months and CZK 3,271 million (2008: CZK 3,462 million) payable in more than twelve 

months.

The deferred tax is determined by these components:

In CZK million

Balance sheet

Statement of 

comprehensive 

income

2009 2008 2009 2008

Temporary differences relating to:

– property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 3,621 3,925 (304) (571)

– trade receivables, inventories and other differences (288) (626) 338 513

Total 3,333 3,299 34 (58)

Deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly to equity are as follows:

In CZK million 2009 2008

Revaluation of cash flow hedges – 4
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Government social security and pension schemes17)	

The Company is legally required to make contributions to government health, retirement benefit 

and unemployment schemes. During 2009 and 2008, the Company paid contributions at a rate 

of 34 %, 35 % respectively of gross salaries and is not required to make any contributions in 

excess of this statutory rate. The total amount charged to operating expenses in respect of 

this scheme was CZK 1,509 million in 2009 (2008: CZK 1,504 million) (see Note 3). Employees 

contribute 11 % (2008: 12.5 %) of their gross salaries.

The Company has a voluntary pension plan for employees under which the Company makes 

contributions on behalf of the Company’s employees to approved pension plan providers, 

under defined contribution schemes. The Company’s contribution depends upon the number 

of employees joining the scheme and their age profile. During the year the Company made 

contributions of CZK 56 million (2008: CZK 58 million). These contributions were charged as an 

operating expense.

In accordance with an annually renegotiated collective labour agreement, the Company 

is required to pay CZK 25,000 or CZK 90,000 on retirement depending on the length 

of the employee’s service, who have completed not less than five years continuous service. These 

benefits are restricted to those employees who retire during the period for which the labour 

agreement is in place. The Company is not under any legal or constructive obligation to continue 

providing such benefits beyond the period of such agreement and therefore, no provisions 

beyond the period of the agreement are recognised in the financial statements. Payments 

made during the year 2009 relating to employee retirement amounted to CZK 0.1 million 

(2008: CZK 0.1 million) and were charged as an operating expense.

All amounts discussed in the above note are included in staff costs (see Note 3).

Provisions for liabilities and charges18)	

In CZK million

Regulatory 

and court 

decisions

Employee 

redundancy 

costs

Employee 

related 

costs

Benefit 

loyalty 

provision

Sale of 

real estate 

portfolio Other Total

At 1 January 2009 395 13 134 252 260 27 1,081

Additions during the year 22 58 112 32 68 8 300

Utilised during the year (380) (60) (155) (284) (189) (16) (1,084)

At 31 December 2009 37 11 91 – 139 19 297

Short-term provisions 2009 21 11 84 – 139 19 274

Long-term provisions 2009 16 – 7 – – – 23

37 11 91 – 139 19 297

Short-term provisions 2008 – 13 127 252 260 27 679

Long-term provisions 2008 395 – 7 – – – 402

395 13 134 252 260 27 1,081

With the exception of the regulatory and court decisions provision and other small items 

for which the expected timing of payments is not certain all other provisions are expected to be 

utilised within the next twelve months from the balance sheet date.
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Benefit loyalty provision

Benefit loyalty provision was used to cover the cost of equipment, accessories, gifts and services 

provided to participants in the mobile segment’s loyalty program in exchange for credits 

awarded primarily for airtime minutes spent. The provision used to be recognized based on past 

experience of the usage of these credits by loyalty program participants.

Benefit loyalty provision was released due to termination of customer loyalty program in year 

2009. There is zero expected outflow of provided benefits. The Company replaced customer 

loyalty program with other non-cash incentives such as discounts and marketing activities.

Sale of real estate portfolio

The provision was established to cover primarily the costs of future claims relating to the 

construction deficiencies identified in the real estate portfolio sold (see Note 8).

Regulatory and court decisions

Provision for regulatory and court decisions is made for legal proceedings involving the Company 

(see Note 20).

Financial instruments19)	

Net fair values of derivative financial instruments

At the balance sheet date, the total net fair values of derivative financial instruments were 

as follows:

Forward foreign exchange contracts  

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Instruments not qualifying as hedges

– with positive fair value 108 23

– with negative fair value (3) (7)

Total (Note 15) 105 16

Contingencies20)	

The Company is involved in several court proceedings which have arisen from the ordinary course 

of business. Several significant litigations opened in previous years were successfully terminated 

in 2009 and are listed below, along with other notable legal matters involving the Company:

T-Mobile Czech Republic, a.s. – interconnect litigations

On 29 April 2009, the Company entered into a settlement agreement, whereby all disputes 

of many years’ standing between the Company and T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s. relating to 

interconnection of public telecommunications networks in 2001 were amicably settled. Based on 

this agreement, T -Mobile Czech Republic a.s. paid to the Company a sum of CZK 1,053 million. 

Consequently, both parties cancelled all proceedings relating to the 2001 interconnection 

disputes.
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Vodafone Czech Republic, a.s. – interconnect litigations

I. On 30 June 2005, Vodafone Czech Republic, a.s. (former Český Mobil/Oskar Mobil) brought 

a petition with the Municipal Court in Prague against the Company for damages in the 

amount of CZK 538 million with appurtenances and for returning the unjustified enrichment 

of CZK 117 million with appurtenances. The petition claims that the Company allegedly failed 

to transmit the traffic to networks operated by other mobile operators according to respective 

interconnection agreements.

The High Court in Prague confirmed the Company’s conclusion that CTO already issued the 

final decision in favour of the Company and that Vodafone Czech Republic, a.s. was trying to 

evade this final decision. The Municipal Court in Prague therefore terminated the legal action in 

September 2008. The High Court in Prague partially confirmed the decision, and the remaining 

part was dismissed by the Municipal Court in Prague’s resolution of 30 September 2009 as 

unjustified. Based on the progress to date, the Company believes that the High Court will confirm 

the positive resolution in the appellate proceedings.

II. In May 2004, Vodafone Czech Republic, a.s. filed a petition against Eurotel Praha, spol. s r.o for 

damages in the amount of CZK 1,043 million due to an alleged breach of the Competition 

Protection Act. The decision rendered by the Office for the Protection of Competition, which 

Vodafone Czech Republic a.s. based the proceedings on, was overruled by the finding of 

the Constitutional Court on 11 July 2007. The Municipal Court in Prague fully dismissed the 

unfounded petition on 21 August 2008 as unjustified. The decision was unsuccessfully appealed 

by Vodafone Czech Republic, a.s. with the High Court in Prague, which finally confirmed by 

resolution of 6 October 2009 that the petition dismissal was correct.

The Company management considers disclosure of further information on these disputes 

inappropriate, as it could prejudice the Company’s position in these disputes. The Company 

management is convinced that all risks relating to the litigations are adequately reflected in the 

financial statements.

The Office for the Protection of Competition

I. The Company was subject to administrative proceeding before the Office for the Protection of 

Competition (UOHS) relating to the alleged abuse of the dominant position by creating unfair 

barriers on the market by offering certain price plans for residential customers. With a resolution 

of 20 April 2005, UOHS imposed a fine on the Company in the total amount of CZK 210 million, 

which was, after the Company’s appeal, consequently reduced to CZK 205 million. After dismissal 

of a petition and cassation complaint by administrative courts, the Company filed a constitutional 

complaint with the Constitutional Court in 2009.

The Company management considers disclosure of further information on these disputes 

inappropriate, as it could prejudice the Company’s position in these disputes. The Company 

management is convinced that all risks relating to the litigation are adequately reflected in the 

financial statements.

Other legal matters

I. The dispute with TELE 2 was also closed in 2009. TELE 2 s.r.o. sued the Company on 3 February 

2005 for an alleged breach of the Competition Protection Act due to offering certain pricing 

plans from September 2002 until December 2004. The amount of the claim was CZK 2,142 million 

with appurtenances. During the course of the proceedings, TELE 2 s.r.o. was succeeded in the role 

of the plaintiff by TELE 2 EUROPE S.A. The Company provided to the court an extensive defence 

along with proposed items of evidence proving the legal imperfectness of the sued case. The 
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Company management adequately reflected the matter in the financial statements. Eventually, 

the Company and TELE 2 EUROPE S.A. agreed on settlement and terminated their dispute in the 

Czech Republic. As a result of this settlement there is no longer any risk for the Company with 

respect to the amount of CZK 2,142 million originally claimed by TELE 2 in 2005. The legal action 

was withdrawn. The proceeding was finally terminated in July 2009.

Other confidential information may not be disclosed to the public. The Company is bound by 

confidentiality agreement and has no intent to harm either party’s interests by any comments.

II. The Company was sued by AUGUSTUS spol. s r.o. for an alleged loss of profit in the principal 

amount of approximately CZK 183 million with appurtenances relating to the years 1995–2001. 

AUGUSTUS spol. s r.o. claims that the Company illegitimately cancelled a contract for issue of 

phone cards, which was entered into for an unlimited period of time. Based on court decision, 

the Company paid an amount of CZK 83 million and the corresponding interest in August 2006 

(in total approximately CZK 139 million). Both parties subsequently filed an extraordinary appeal 

against the court judgment. Based on the Company’s extraordinary appeal, the Supreme Court 

annulled all previous judgements in June 2009. The Municipal Court in Prague shall deal with the 

petition again.

III. Subsequently AUGUSTUS spol. s r.o. filed another petition against the Company regarding the 

amount of approximately CZK 294 million (status in April 2008). The petition is based again on 

the contract on phone cards issuing between Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, a.s. and AUGUSTUS 

spol. s r.o. that was terminated 13 years ago. AUGUSTUS spol. s r.o. brings up a number of new 

requirements in the petition that are not underpinned by law or contradict each other. It is not 

even possible to sum up individual claims in the petition to be able to specify the total amount. 

Telefónica O2 Czech Republic, a.s. takes all steps in the lawsuit to defend thoroughly against 

this unlawful claim and believes in success in this lawsuit. However, with respect to the claimed 

amount the Company informs about this proceeding.

Considering the judgement of the Supreme Court and the progress in the matter, the Company 

management believes that it is not necessary to create or maintain any reserves regarding these 

disputes.

IV. The Company is a party to other litigations. The total amount of all cases, the individual 

amount of which exceeds CZK 5 million, totals to CZK 233 million. Even minor litigations are 

reflected in the financial statement, however, risks relating to these litigations are immaterial.

Commitments21)	

Operating leases

The aggregate future minimum lease payments under operating leases are as follows:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

No later than 1 year 1,352 1,275

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 4,684 3,963

Later than 5 years 4,710 5,720

Total 10,746 10,958
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The total lease payments relating to operating leasing of property, plant and equipment 

recognised as an expense in 2009 were CZK 1,396 million (2008: CZK 1,253 million). These 

lease agreements may contain clauses requiring restoration of the leased site at the end 

of the lease term. At present, such costs do not have a material impact on the Company’s results 

of operations, financial position, or cash flow and therefore are not accounted for.

In 2004 the Company entered into a sale and lease back transaction and now leases the majority 

of its car fleet under operating leases. There are no contingent rent obligations. The lease 

arrangements include an option to renew the lease after the initial period. Lease payments are 

fixed and determinable, however they may be increased to reflect inflation and other market 

conditions such as interest rates changes (e.g. an increase in PRIBOR by more than 2 % over a half 

year). There are no significant restrictions imposed by these lease arrangements, such as those 

concerning dividends, additional debt and further leasing. Total future lease payments relating to 

this contract in 2009 were CZK 344 million (2008: CZK 356 million).

Capital and other commitments

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Capital and other expenditure contracted but not 

provided for in the financial statements 5, 422 646

The majority of contracted amounts relate to the telecommunications network and service 

contracts.

Service concession arrangements22)	

The Company performs communication activities as defined under the Act on Electronic 

Communications based on a notification and a certificate from the Czech Telecommunication 

Office num. 516 as amended by later changes num. 516/1, 516/2 and 516/3.

The communication activities include (territory of the Czech Republic):

public fixed network of electronic communications,a)	

public mobile network of electronic communications,b)	

public network for the transfer of radio and TV signal,c)	

public fixed telephone network, d)	

public mobile telephone network,e)	

publicly accessible telephone services, f)	

other voice services – service is provided as publicly available,g)	

rent of circuits – service is provided as publicly available,h)	

transmission of radio and TV signal – service is provided as publicly available,i)	

transfers of data – service is provided as publicly available,j)	

internet access services – service is provided as publicly available,k)	

other voice services – service is not provided as publicly available,l)	

rent of circuits – service is not provided as publicly available,m)	

transmission of radio and TV signal – service is not provided as publicly available,n)	

transfers of data – service is not provided as publicly available,o)	

internet access services – service is not provided as publicly available.p)	
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The Company provides mobile services of electronic communications in the 900 and 1800 MHz 

frequency bands under the Global System for Mobile Communication (“GSM”) standard on the 

basis of radio frequency assignment from CTO valid until 7 February 2016, in the 2100 MHz 

frequency band under the Universal Mobile Telecommunications System (“UMTS”) standard on 

the basis of radio frequency assignment from CTO valid until 1 January 2022 and in the 450 MHz 

frequency band using technology CDMA2000 (Code Division Multiple Access – “CDMA”), where 

on the basis of radio frequency assignment from CTO valid until 7 February 2011 is provided 

broadband mobile access to Internet.

Validity of radio frequency assignment is possible to prolong for next period on the basis 

of application submitted to CTO in accordance with the Act on Electronic Communications. 

Relative to the current regulatory and business environment in the Czech Republic, contractual, 

legal, regulatory, competitive or other economic factors may limit the period during which the 

Company can benefit from the use of these radio frequency assignments in the future.

No additional expenses or any limitations connected with renewal of the radio frequency 

assignments are expected in accordance with the existing interpretation of regulatory provisions.

Imposition of obligations related to provision of universal service

During the year 2009 and 2008, the Company provided the following selective services under CTO 

imposed obligations to provide universal service:

public pay telephones services,a)	

access for disabled to the public telephone,b)	

supplementary services to service of connection at a fixed location to the public telephone c)	

network and the service of access to publicly available telephone services at a fixed location:

phased payment of the price for the establishment of connection to the public telephone ——

network for consumer,

free selective barring of outgoing calls for the subscribers, and——

free itemised billing of the price for consumer*,——

special price schemes, which are different from the price schemes used under normal business d)	

conditions, for low income persons, persons with special social needs and disabled persons.

*	S ervices listed under letter c) above are excluded from the universal service regime on the basis of CTO decision 

since 30th of July 2009. Providing of these services continues in commercial regime out of universal service.

Share capital and reserves23)	

31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Nominal value per ordinary bearer share (CZK) 100 100

Number of shares 322,089,890 322,089,890

Nominal value per ordinary registered share (CZK)* 1,000 1,000

Number of shares* 1 1

Ordinary shares (in CZK million) 32,209 32,209

*	 One share owned by the National Property Fund of the Czech Republic bore special decision-making rights 

in accordance with the statutes of the Company. These special rights included namely decisions regarding 

the liquidation of the Company, changes in its activities, sale or lease of the Company or of its assets. This share 

was assigned to Telefónica, S.A. within the transferred 51.1 % stake in the Company. From this date, the share has 

not borne special decision-making rights.
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Shareholdings in the Company were as follows:

31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Telefónica, S.A. 69.41 % 69.41 %

Other shareholders 30.59 % 30.59 %

Funds include a statutory reserve fund of CZK 6,442 million (2008: CZK 6,442 million) that is 

not distributable under ruling legislation. Equity settled share based payments reserve is not 

distributable.

On 21 April 2008 the Annual General Shareholders Meeting approved the restructuring of equity 

in the form of transfer of CZK 6,442 million from share premium to statutory reserve fund. 

Further the opening balance of the statutory reserve fund of CZK 6,442 million was transferred to 

retained earnings and used for distribution of dividend.

Capital management

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

The Company’s objectives when managing its capital are:

to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can provide value a)	

for its shareholders, and

to comply with all relevant legal requirements.b)	

The investment strategy in the light of managing capital of the Company is to direct investment 

activities in pro-growth areas, i.e. fixed and mobile broadband internet, IPTV, mobile services, 

public administration, corporate ICT solutions and in the expansion of mobile services in Slovakia.

At present, the approach that the Company follows is not to retain surplus cash. In the following 

periods, the Board of Directors will continue to evaluate and carry out an in-depth analysis 

of the current and anticipated results of the Company, including scheduled and potential 

investments and cash flow generation and will establish the most adequate capital structure for 

accomplishment of the plans.

There is no other specific objective.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 2009 and 2008.

The equity breakdown used in the capital management is following:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Capital 77,754 81,434

Equity settled share based payment reserve 36 45

Total 77,790 81,479
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Hedging reserve24)	

In CZK million

Balance at 1 January 2008 (20)

Fair value gains in period 24

Fair value losses transfer to net profit (4)

Balance at 31 December 2008 – 

Fair value losses in period –

Fair value losses transfer to net profit –

Balance at 31 December 2009 – 

Related party transactions25)	

The Company provides services to all related parties on normal commercial terms. Sales and 

purchase transactions with related parties are based on contractual agreements negotiated 

on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market prices. Outstanding balances of assets 

and liabilities are unsecured, interest free (excl. financial assets and liabilities used for financing) 

and the settlement occurs either in cash or by offsetting. The financial assets balances are tested 

for the impairment at the balance sheet date, and no allowance or write off was incurred.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

I. Parent company:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Dividend paid to Telefónica, S.A. 11,179 11,179

Royalty fees (Telefónica, S.A) 754 626

II. Other related parties – Telefónica Group:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

a) Sales of services and goods 1,306 1,012

b) Purchases of services and goods 1,049 1,041

c) Capital purchases 101 5

d) Receivables 656 480

e) Payables 1,168 4,336

f) Short-term receivables (interest) 0 14

g) Interest income 151 375

h) Interest expense 10 –

i) Long-term loans 1,032 –

j) Cash equivalents (Note 13) 1,100 6,344

The list of the Telefónica companies with which the Company had any transaction in 2009 

includes the following entities: Telefónica S.A., Telefónica de España, S.A.U., Telefónica O2 

Germany GmbH& CO.OHG, Telefónica O2 UK Ltd., Telefónica O2 Ireland Ltd., Telefónica Móviles 

España, S.A.U., Telefónica Móviles Argentina, S.A., Pléyade Peninsular, O2 Holdings Ltd., Manx 

Telecom Ltd., Telefónica Móviles Guatemala, S.A., Telefónica Móviles El Salvador, S.A. de C.V., 

Telefónica Móviles Panamá, S.A., Telefónica Móviles Chile, S.A., Otecel, S.A., Telefónica Móviles 
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Nicaragua, S.A., Telefónica Móviles Columbia, S.A., Telefónica S. de Informática y Comunicaciones 

de Espana, S.A.U., Telefónica Investigación y Desrrollo, S.A., Portugal Telecom, S.G.P.S., S.A., 

Telecom Italia S.p.A., Telfisa Global, BV., Telefónica Finanzas, S.A., Telefónica International 

Wholesale Services, Telefónica International Wholesale Services II, S.L., Telefónica Gestión de 

Servicios Compartidos, S.A., Telefónica Factoring E.F.C., S.A., Atento Chequia, Telefónica Compras 

Electrónica, S.L., Telefónica Móviles Mexico, S.A., Telefónica Móviles del Uruguay, S.A., Telefónica 

Móviles Peru, S.A., Telefónica Venezuela, S.A., China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited, Telefónica O2 

Business Solutions, spol. s r.o., CZECH TELECOM Germany GmbH, CZECH TELECOM Austria GmbH, 

Telefónica O2 Slovakia, s.r.o.

III. Other related parties

a) Key management compensation

Members of the Board of Directors and of the Supervisory Board of the Telefónica O2 Czech 

Republic, a.s., were provided with benefits as follows:

In CZK million 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Salaries and other short-term benefits 122 123

Personal indemnification insurance 5 7

Total 127 130

b) Loans to related parties

There were no loans provided to members of Board of Directors and Supervisory Board in 2009 

and 2008.

As at 31 December 2009 the Company provides a long-term loan of CZK 1,032 million 

(EUR 39 million) to Telefónica O2 Slovakia, s.r.o. presented under other financial assets. The loan 

bears a floating interest based on 1M EURIBOR. The loan conditions are based on the arm’s length 

principle.

No other loan was provided to related parties by the Company.
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Principal subsidiary undertakings26)	

Company’s 

interest

Cost of 

investment  

In CZK million

Country of 

incorporation

Activity

Subsidiaries

1. Telefónica O2 Business Solutions, 

spol. s r.o. (formerly Telefónica O2 

Services, spol. s r.o., merged with 

DELTAX Systems a.s.)

100 % 237 Czech Republic Network and consultancy 

services in telecommunications, 

IT/ICT services

2. CZECH TELECOM Germany GmbH 100 % 13 Germany Data transmission services

3. CZECH TELECOM Austria GmbH 100 % 11 Austria Data transmission services

4. Telefónica O2 Slovakia, s.r.o. 100 % 5,081 Slovakia Mobile telephony, internet and 

data transmission services 

Associates

5. První certifikační autorita, a.s. 23 % 9 Czech Republic Rendering of certification 

services

6. AUGUSTUS, spol. s r.o. 40 % – Czech Republic Sales by auctions and advisory 

services

During the fourth quarter 2007, SPT TELECOM (Czech Republic) Finance B.V. in liquidation 

commenced preparatory steps for the process of voluntary liquidation. Until the end of 2008, 

the key legal steps for dissolution of the Company have been executed. The cancellation of the 

registration from the Commercial Register was performed as of 9 February 2009.

In December 2008, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the plan to merge 

Telefónica O2 Business Solutions, spol. s r.o. with DELTAX Systems a.s. This merger became 

effective as of day of entry into the Commercial Register on 1 August 2009 after the fulfillment 

of all legal conditions performed in the half of 2009. Telefónica O2 Business Solutions, spol. s r.o. 

became the legal successor while DELTAX Systems a.s. was dissolved without liquidation. 

The assets, rights and obligations including labour rights and duties were transferred 

to the successor.

In June 2009, the Board of Directors approved increase of the registered capital of Telefónica 

O2 Slovakia, s.r.o. by a monetary investment in the amount of EUR 150 million from the amount 

of the registered capital of EUR 50 million to the amount of the registered capital of EUR 200 

million. Effective date of increase of the registered capital was 19 August 2009.

The Company has an intention to further increase the registered capital of Telefónica O2 

Slovakia, s.r.o. by estimated amount of EUR 40 million during 2010.

Post balance sheet events27)	

As of 1st February 2010, Chief Executive Officer Salvador Anglada Gonzales was transferred to 

Telefónica S.A. in Madrid. Luis Antonio Malvido was appointed as a new Chief Executive Officer.

There were no events, which have occurred subsequent to the year-end, which would have 

a material impact on the financial statements at 31 December 2009.
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